

State of Delaware

Office of Management and Budget

**Government Support Services** 

**Procurement Manual** 

Revised: May 3, 2024



# STATE OF DELAWARE EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENT OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET

TO: Authorized State of Delaware Procurement Personnel

FROM: Peter Korolyk, Chief Procurement Officer

DATE: May 3, 2024

SUBJECT: OMB GSS Procurement Manual

The purpose of the State Procurement Delaware Code chapter is identified as the following:

- Create a more efficient procurement process to better enable the State to obtain the highest quality goods, materials and services at the best possible price, thereby maximizing the purchasing value of public moneys; and
- (2) Create a single forum in which the procurement needs of state agencies and the technical and legal requirements of the Government Support Services are addressed simultaneously so as to increase mutual understanding, respect, trust and fair and equitable treatment for all persons who deal with the state procurement process.

The Government Support Services Procurement manual is designed to complement the Delaware Code for State Procurement. The GSS manual goal is to provide a practical set of instructions to allow for consistent execution of procurement practices. Accordingly, this manual shall be used as a tool to train GSS' procurement personnel. By standardizing training and processes, GSS seeks to improve quality outcomes and the delivery of GSS Contracting Services.

When changes become necessary, new pages and/or manual modifications covering such changes will be published.

All personnel responsible for the procurement of goods and/or services are encouraged to be familiar with applicable Delaware laws as they pertain to purchasing.

Sincerely,

Peter Koroly

Director

Government Support Services Chief Procurement Officer



GOVERNMENT SUPPORT SERVICES - CONTRACTING

600 A South Bay Road — DOVER, DE 19901 Phone: (302) 857-4550 — Fax: (302) 739-3779 — GSS.OMB.DELAWARE.GOV

# Contents

# Contents

CHAPTER 1 – GENERAL PROVISIONS	6
1.1 – POLICY	6
1.2 – KEY WEBSITES	6
1.3 – JURISDICTION	7
1.4 – ETHICS	7
1.5 – FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT	12
1.6 – PROFESSIONAL SERVICES	13
1.7 – PUBLIC WORKS	14
1.8 – PREVAILING WAGE DETERMINATION  Current prevailing wage rates	
1.9 – SOLE SOURCE PROCUREMENT	17
1.10 – EMERGENCY / CRITICAL NEED PROCUREMENT	18
1.11 – PURCHASING OF USED EQUIPMENT	19
1.12 – SMALL PURCHASING PROCEDURE	19
1.13 – CONTRACT AUDIT PROCEDURES	20
CHAPTER 2 – ESTABLISHING A NEW CONTRACT	21
2.1 – TYPES OF SOLICITATIONS	21
2.2 – MARKET RESEARCH	22
2.3 – PROCUREMENT PLANNING	23
2.5 – SCOPE DEVELOPMENT	23
2.6 – BONDS	24
2.7 – PRE-BID MEETINGS	26
2.8 – MULTIPLE SOURCING	26
2.9 – PREPARE SOLICITATION	27
2.10 – DEVELOP OUTREACH	28
2.11 – MANAGEMENT REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF CONTRACT SUMMARY FORM	28
2.12 – ISSUE THE SOLICITATION	28
2.13 – GSS SOLICITATON REVIEW	28
CHAPTER 3 – COOPERATIVE PROCUREMENT	37
3.1 – AUTHORITY	37
3.2 – BACKGROUND	37

3.3 – PROCESS OVERVIEW	37
3.4 – ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT	38
3.5 – PARTICIPATING ON ANOTHER STATE'S CONTRACT	39
3.6 – COOPERATIVE USE OF GSS CENTRAL CONTRACT	40
CHAPTER 4 – GENERAL SERVICES ADMINISTRATION (GSA) CONTRACTS	41
CHAPTER 5 – PROTESTS & APPEALS	42
5.1 – WRITTEN PROTEST	42
5.2 – FILING PROTESTS	42
5.3 – VENDOR PROTEST DEADLINES	42
5.4 – STAY OF PROCUREMENT DURING PROTEST REVIEW	43
5.5 – PROTEST RESOLUTION	43
5.6 – COSTS	44
CHAPTER 6 – CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION	45
6.1 – OVERVIEW	45
6.2 – AMENDMENTS TO CONTRACTS	46
6.3 – EXTENSION OF CONTRACTS	46
6.4 – RE-BID OF CONTRACT	47
6.5 – VENDOR PERFORMANCE	48
6.6 – DISPUTE RESOLUTION / CORRECTIVE ACTION REQUEST	49
6.7 – OPPORTUNITY BUYS/ I FOUND IT CHEAPER (IFIC)	50
6.8 – CANCELLATION OF CONTRACT	51
6.9 – TRANSFER OF OWNERSHIP OF CONTRACTOR OR NAME CHANGE	52
CHAPTER 7 – LEVELS OF GSS CONTRACTING ASSISTANCE TO AGENCIES	53
LEVEL 1 – AGENCY PROCESS HOLDER	53
LEVEL 2 – AGENCY PROCESS HOLDER	53
LEVEL 3 – GSS PROCESS HOLDER	54
CHAPTER 8 – DEFINITIONS	55
CHAPTER 9 – POLICIES, PROCEDURES AND MEMOS	60
9.1 – BEST AND FINAL OFFER POLICY	60
9.2 – BID CANCELLATION	60
9.3 – NON-AWARD REASONS	60
9.4 – CONTRACT TRANSFER CHECKLIST POLICY	61
9.5 – DEBARMENT	61
9.6 – DISPUTE RESOLUTION POLICY	63

9.7 – D	RUG TESTING FOR LARGE PUBLIC WORKS POLICY	63
9.8 – C	RAFT TRAINING	64
9.9 – EI	LECTRONIC SIGNATURES	64
9.10	– ELECTRONIC STORAGE OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS	64
9.11	– BENCHMARKING	64
9.12	- THIRTY (30) DAY EXTENSIONS	65
9.13	– VENDOR OUTREACH PROCEDURES	65
9.14	– VENDOR REGISTRATION	66
9.15	– VENDOR SPEND USAGE REPORT POLICY	66
9.16	– W-9 FORM POLICIES AND PROCEDURES	66
9.17	- MY MARKETPLACE VENDOR DIVERSITY REPORTING	66
9.18	- HEALTHY VENDING/FOOD SERVICE	67

# CHAPTER 1 – GENERAL PROVISIONS

# 1.1 - POLICY

The purpose of this policy is to establish uniform procurement procedures of material and services consistent with 16 *Del. C.* Chapter 96, 29 *Del. C.* Chapter 69, 29 *Del. C.* Chapter 63 and 29 *Del. C.* Chapter 63A. Further, GSS Contracting promotes best public procurement practices and a philosophy of partnering with agencies and vendors to maximize customer service, cost savings and product quality.

The purchase of goods, material, equipment and non-professional services with a cost of less than those established by the Small Purchase Procedures and are not covered by an existing contract administered by GSS Contracting are to be procured in accordance with the procedures outlined in the Budget and Accounting Manual <a href="https://budget.delaware.gov/accounting-manual/index.shtml">https://budget.delaware.gov/accounting-manual/index.shtml</a>.

For goods, material and non-professional services, the threshold is a yearly cumulative limit, and for those items not already under a state Mandatory Use Contract, purchases are made according to the following thresholds:

- Less than \$50,000 Open Market Purchase
- \$50,000 \$99,999 3 Written Quotes
- \$100,000 and over Formal Bid

All single purchases of goods, material, equipment, and non-professional services by an Agency that exceed the Small Purchase Threshold (SPT) shall be procured in a manner consistent with 29 *Del. C.* § 6923 or § 6924. If total annual purchases made by 2 or more covered agencies of similar items or services exceed the SPT, the procurement shall be administered by Government Support Services (GSS) Contracting.

29 Del. C. § 6911. Authority and responsibilities.

(a) The Section shall act as the exclusive contracting agent for all purchases of materiel and nonprofessional services not subject to the small purchasing procedures made by contracting agencies and as outlined in this subchapter and made by 2 or more covered agencies except for lodging and interstate and international travel and except as provided for in subsection (d) of this section.

After review of the purchase specifications, for select commodities and/or services, GSS Contracting shall be responsible for either initiating the bid process or delegating that responsibility back to the appropriate Agency.

# 1.2 - KEY WEBSITES

The following Websites are referenced throughout this manual and are provided in this section. Additional hyperlinks or email addresses may also be identified throughout the text.

The Delaware Procurement Portal https://mymarketplace.delaware.gov/

Delaware Online Code, Title 29, Chapter 69, State Procurement https://delcode.delaware.gov/title29/c069/index.shtml

# 1.3 – JURISDICTION

# Mandatory Use

Every State department and Agency within the Executive Branch and Judicial Branch of the State government shall procure all material, equipment and nonprofessional services through the statewide contracts administered by Government Support Services, Office of Management and Budget. Delaware State University, Delaware Technical and Community College, school districts, Delaware Transit Corporation, Department of Elections, the Legislative Branch, and the Board of Pension Trustees and their consultants are specifically exempted from the statutory mandate in 29 *Del. C.* § 6911(d).

Technology Related Procurement, including Data Processing and Telecommunications

29 *Del. C.* § 9004C, provides the Department of Technology and Information (DTI) powers, duties, and functions including promoting cooperation between all state agencies, in order that work may be done by one Agency for another Agency and equipment and/or technical personnel in one Agency may be made available to another Agency, and promote such improvements as may be necessary in joint or cooperative technology operations. The Chief Information Officer (CIO) is authorized to purchase, lease or rent technology and related equipment in the name of DTI and to operate the equipment in providing services to any or all state agencies. When, in the opinion of the CIO, better and more efficient technology services can be performed, DTI may enter into lease or purchase agreements in the acquiring or the use of any technology equipment and use such equipment in a centralized statewide approach. When the Department acts in a centralized statewide approach, the cost of the operation shall be prorated among the State agencies benefiting from those services provided thereby.

#### Available Use

Any municipality, political subdivision, or local government unit within the State shall be entitled to purchase material, nonprofessional services, or professional services under any central contract negotiated by GSS, as identified in 29 *Del. C.* § 6910(e)

# Other Entity Use

Select grant-in-aid, bona fide non-profit(s), and any organization, entity, or person who is a participant in the Business Enterprise Program sanctioned by Division of the Visually Impaired (DVI) shall be entitled to use central contracts awarded by the Section, as outlined in 29 *Del. C.* 6910(b), (c), and (d).

# 1.4 – ETHICS

Pursuant to 29 *Del. C. <u>Chapter 58</u>* Laws Regulating the Conduct of Officers and Employees of the State, the Code of Conduct for public officers and employees is reprinted in its entirety.

§ 5801. Short title.

This subchapter shall be known and may be cited as the "State Employees', Officers' and Officials' Code of Conduct."

§ 5802. Legislative findings and statement of policy.

The General Assembly finds and declares:

- (1) In our democratic form of government, the conduct of officers and employees of the State must hold the respect and confidence of the people. They must, therefore, avoid conduct which is in violation of their public trust or which creates a justifiable impression among the public that such trust is being violated.
- (2) To ensure propriety and to preserve public confidence, officers and employees of the State must have the benefit of specific standards to guide their conduct and of some disciplinary mechanisms to guarantee uniform maintenance of those standards. Some standards of this type are so vital to government that violation thereof should subject the violator to criminal penalties.
- (3) In our democratic form of government, it is both necessary and desirable that all citizens should be encouraged to assume public office and employment, and that, therefore, the activities of officers and employees of the State should not be unduly circumscribed.
- (4) It is the desire of the General Assembly that all counties, municipalities and towns adopt code of conduct legislation at least as stringent as this act to apply to their employees and elected and appointed officials. This subchapter shall apply to any county, municipality or town and the employees and elected and appointed officials thereof which has not enacted such legislation by January 23, 1993. No code of conduct legislation shall be deemed sufficient to exempt any county, municipality or town from the purview of this subchapter unless the code of conduct has been submitted to the State Ethics Commission and determined by a majority vote thereof to be at least as stringent as this subchapter. Any change to an approved code of conduct must similarly be approved by the State Ethics Commission to continue the exemption from this subchapter.

#### § 5803. Construction.

This subchapter shall be construed to promote high standards of ethical conduct in state government.

# § 5804. Definitions.

For the purposes of this subchapter:

- (1) "Close relative" means a person's parents, spouse, children (natural or adopted) and siblings of the whole and half-blood.
- (2) "Commission" means the State Public Integrity Commission established by this chapter.
- (3) "Commission Counsel" means the legal counsel appointed by the Commission pursuant to this chapter.
- (4) "Compensation" means any money, thing of value or any other economic benefit of any kind or nature whatsoever conferred on or received by any person in return for services rendered or to be rendered by oneself or another.
- (5) A person has a "financial interest" in a private enterprise if:
  - a. The person has a legal or equitable ownership interest in the enterprise of more than 10% (1% or more in the case of a corporation whose stock is regularly traded on an established securities market);
  - b. The person is associated with the enterprise and received from the enterprise during the last calendar year or might reasonably be expected to receive from the enterprise during the current or the next calendar year income in excess of \$5,000 for services as an employee, officer, director, trustee or independent contractor; or
  - c. The person is a creditor of a private enterprise in an amount equal to 10% or more of the debt of that enterprise (1% or more in the case of a corporation whose securities are regularly traded on an established securities market).
- (6) "Honorary state official" means a person who serves as an appointed member, trustee, director or the like of any state agency and who receives or reasonably expects to receive not more than \$5,000 in compensation for such service in a calendar year (not including any reimbursement for expenses).

- (7) "Matter" means any application, petition, request, business dealing or transaction of any sort.
- (8) "Person" means an individual, partnership, corporation, trust, joint venture and any other association of individuals or entities.
- (9) "Private enterprise" means any activity conducted by any person, whether conducted for profit or not for profit and includes the ownership of real or personal property. Private enterprise does not include any activity of the State or of any political subdivision or of any agency, authority or instrumentality thereof.
- (10) "State" means the State of Delaware and includes any state agency.
- (11) "State agency" means any office, department, board, commission, committee, court, school district, board of education and all public bodies existing by virtue of an act of the General Assembly or of the Constitution of the State, excepting only political subdivisions of the State, their agencies and other public agencies not specifically included in this definition which exist by virtue of state law, and whose jurisdiction:
  - a. Is limited to a political subdivision of the State or to a portion thereof; or
  - b. Extends beyond the boundaries of the State.
- (12) a. "State employee" means any person:
  - 1. Who receives compensation as an employee of a state agency;
  - 2. Who serves as an appointed member, trustee, director or the like of any state agency and who receives or reasonably expects to receive more than \$5,000 in compensation for such service in a calendar year (not including any reimbursement for expenses); or
  - 3. Who is an elected or appointed school board member.
  - b. "State employee" does not include:
    - 1. Members of the General Assembly;
    - 2. The Chief Justice and Justices of the Supreme Court;
    - 3. The Chancellor and Vice-Chancellors of the Court of Chancery;
    - 4. The President Judge and Judges of Superior Court;
    - 5. The Chief Judge and Judges of Family Court;
    - 6. The Chief Judge and Resident Judges of the Court of Common Pleas;
    - 7. The Chief Magistrate and Justices of the Peace;
    - 8. State officers; or
    - 9. Honorary state officials.
- (13) "State officer" means any person who is required by subchapter II of this chapter to file a financial disclosure statement but does not include:
  - a. Members of the General Assembly;
  - b. The Chief Justice and Justices of the Supreme Court;
  - c. The Chancellor and Vice-Chancellors of the Court of Chancery;
  - d. The President Judge and Judges of Superior Court;
  - e. The Chief Judge and Judges of Family Court;
  - f. The Chief Judge and Judges of the Court of Common Pleas; or

- g. The Chief Magistrate and Justices of the Peace.
- § 5805. Prohibitions relating to conflicts of interest.
  - (a) Restrictions on exercise of official authority. (1) No state employee, state officer or honorary state official may participate on behalf of the State in the review or disposition of any matter pending before the State in which the state employee, state officer or honorary state official has a personal or private interest, provided, that upon request from any person with official responsibility with respect to the matter, any such person who has such a personal or private interest may nevertheless respond to questions concerning any such matter. A personal or private interest in a matter is an interest which tends to impair a person's independence of judgment in the performance of the person's duties with respect to that matter.
    - (2) A person has an interest which tends to impair the person's independence of judgment in the performance of the person's duties with respect to any matter when:
      - a. Any action or inaction with respect to the matter would result in a financial benefit or detriment to accrue to the person or a close relative to a greater extent than such benefit or detriment would accrue to others who are members of the same class or group of persons; or
      - b. The person or a close relative has a financial interest in a private enterprise which enterprise or interest would be affected by any action or inaction on a matter to a lesser or greater extent than like enterprises or other interests in the same enterprise.
    - (3) In any case where a person has a statutory responsibility with respect to action or nonaction on any matter where the person has a personal or private interest and there is no provision for the delegation of such responsibility to another person, the person may exercise responsibility with respect to such matter, provided, that promptly after becoming aware of such conflict of interest, the person files a written statement with the Commission fully disclosing the personal or private interest and explaining why it is not possible to delegate responsibility for the matter to another person.
  - (b) Restrictions on representing another's interest before the State. (1) No state employee, state officer or honorary state official may represent or otherwise assist any private enterprise with respect to any matter before the state agency with which the employee, officer or official is associated by employment or appointment.
    - (2) No state officer may represent or otherwise assist any private enterprise with respect to any matter before the State.
    - (3) This subsection shall not preclude any state employee, state officer or honorary state official from appearing before the State or otherwise assisting any private enterprise with respect to any matter in the exercise of such person's official duties.
  - (c) Restrictions on contracting with the State. No state employee, no state officer and no private enterprise in which a state employee or state officer has a legal or equitable ownership of more than 10% (more than 1% in the case of a corporation whose stock is regularly traded on an established securities market) shall enter into any contract with the State (other than an employment contract) unless such contract was made or let after public notice and competitive bidding. Such notice and bidding requirements shall not apply to contracts not involving more than \$2,000 per year if the terms of such contract reflect arms' length negotiations. For the period of July 1, 1990, through June 30, 1991, nothing in this subsection shall prohibit a state employee, a state officer, or a private enterprise in which a state employee or a state officer has a legal or equitable ownership of more than 10% (more than 1% in the case of a corporation whose stock is regularly traded on an established securities market) from contracting with a public school district and/or the State Board of Education for the transportation of school children without public notice and competitive bidding as is permitted under § 6904(c) of this title.
  - (d) *Post-employment restrictions*. No person who has served as a state employee, state officer or honorary state official shall represent or otherwise assist any private enterprise on any matter involving the State, for a period of 2 years after termination of employment or appointed status with the State, if the person gave an opinion, conducted an investigation or otherwise was directly and materially

responsible for such matter in the course of official duties as a state employee, officer or official. Nor shall any former state employee, state officer or honorary state official disclose confidential information gained by reason of public position nor shall the person otherwise use such information for personal gain or benefit.

- (e) *Unauthorized disclosure of confidential information.* No person shall disclose any information required to be maintained confidential by the Commission under § 5806(d), § 5807(b) or (d), or § 5810(h) of this title.
- (f) *Criminal sanctions*. (1) Any person who knowingly or wilfully violates any provision of this section shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, punishable for each such violation by imprisonment of not more than 1 year and by a fine not to exceed \$10,000.
  - (2) A prosecution for a violation of this section shall be subject to the time limitations of § 205 of Title 11.
  - (3) The Superior Court shall have exclusive jurisdiction over prosecution for all criminal violations of this section.
- (g) Contracts voidable by court action. In addition to any other penalty provided by law, any contract entered into by any state agency in violation of this subchapter shall be voidable by the state agency; provided, that in determining whether any court action should be taken to void such a contract pursuant to this subsection, the state agency shall consider the interests of innocent 3rd parties who may be damaged thereby. Any court action to void any transaction must be initiated within 30 days after the state agency involved has, or should have, knowledge of such violation.
- (h) Exceptions for transportation contracts with school districts. Except for transportation supervisors for any school district within this State, nothing in this section shall prohibit an employee or the employee's spouse or children (natural or adopted) from contracting for the transportation of school children. Such transportation contracts may be entered into by an employee or the employee's spouse or children without public notice and competitive bidding as is provided in § 6904(c) of this title.
- (i) [Deleted.]

#### § 5806. Code of conduct.

- (a) Each state employee, state officer and honorary state official shall endeavor to pursue a course of conduct which will not raise suspicion among the public that such state employee, state officer or honorary state official is engaging in acts which are in violation of the public trust and which will not reflect unfavorably upon the State and its government.
- (b) No state employee, state officer or honorary state official shall have any interest in any private enterprise nor shall such state employee, state officer or honorary state official incur any obligation of any nature which is in substantial conflict with the proper performance of such duties in the public interest. No state employee, state officer or honorary state official shall accept other employment, any compensation, gift, payment of expenses or any other thing of monetary value under circumstances in which such acceptance may result in any of the following:
  - (1) Impairment of independence of judgment in the exercise of official duties;
  - (2) An undertaking to give preferential treatment to any person;
  - (3) The making of a governmental decision outside official channels; or
  - (4) Any adverse effect on the confidence of the public in the integrity of the government of the State.

Provided however, that a minimal gratuity provided on occasion to blind or disabled state employees or other blind or disabled persons supervised by the Division of Visually Impaired, shall not be considered to be a violation of this section.

(c) No state employee, state officer, or honorary state official shall acquire a financial interest in any private enterprise which such official has reason to believe may be directly involved in decisions to be made by such official in an official capacity on behalf of the State.

- (d) Any state employee or state officer who has a financial interest in any private enterprise which is subject to the regulatory jurisdiction of, or does business with, any state agency (and any honorary state official who has a financial interest in any private enterprise which is subject to the regulatory jurisdiction of, or does business with, the state agency on which the official serves as an appointee) shall file with the Commission a written statement fully disclosing the same. Such disclosure shall be confidential and the Commission shall not release such disclosed information, except as may be necessary for the enforcement of this chapter. The filing of such disclosure statement shall be a condition of commencing and continuing employment or appointed status with the State.
- (e) No state employee, state officer or honorary state official shall use such public office to secure unwarranted privileges, private advancement or gain.
- (f) No state employee, state officer or honorary state official shall engage in any activity beyond the scope of such public position which might reasonably be expected to require or induce such state employee, state officer or honorary state official to disclose confidential information acquired by such official by reason of such public position.
- (g) No state employee, state officer or honorary state official shall, beyond the scope of such public position, disclose confidential information gained by reason of such public position nor shall such official otherwise use such information for personal gain or benefit.
- (h) No state employee, state officer or honorary state official, in the course of public responsibilities, shall use the granting of sexual favors as a condition, either explicit or implicit, for an individual's favorable treatment by that person or a state agency.
- (i) Notwithstanding the provisions of Chapters 58, 59, and 69 of this title and the State Merit Rules of Personnel Administration, state employees may contract to provide foster care or respite care for individuals with fees paid for by the State provided further that the employee does so at other than assigned work hours. Additionally, these individuals are not permitted to participate in the review or disposition of any matter related to foster and/or respite care in which they have or may have a personal or private interest and may not be monitored or reviewed by other state employees who are more junior or related to them.

# 1.5 - FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT

In accordance with 29 Del. C. § 6303A(16) and 29 *Del. C.* § 10003(b), OMB has adopted policies and procedures regarding FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT (FOIA) requests. 8 Del. Admin. C. § 1501.

The State of Delaware's Request for Public Records form can be found at:

http://delaware.gov/help/foia request.shtml?subj=OPA

# 1.6 – PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

For Professional Services purchases, the dollar amounts listed below are on a contract-by-contract basis, are not subject to an annual limit, but instead are based on the intended cumulative procurement limit to fulfill the professional service(s) need.

- Less than \$150,000 Open Market
- \$150,000 and over Formal RFP Process

29 Del. C. § 6980 - Small professional services procurement process.

Any state contract for which an Agency is a party with probable fees, including reimbursable expenses and amendments, less than the threshold amount(s) established by the Contracting and Purchasing Advisory Council pursuant to 29 *Del. C.* § 6913 of this title for the completed job shall be excluded from all other portions of this subchapter. Agencies may, alternately, at their discretion, procure services which include materiel other than professional services in accordance with 29 *Del. C.* § 6924 of this title.

29 Del. C. § 6981. Large professional service procurement process.

Any state contract for which an Agency is a party with probable fees, including reimbursable expenses and amendments, greater than the threshold amount(s) established by the Contracting and Purchasing Advisory Council pursuant to 29 *Del. C.* § 6913 of this title for the completed job will be subject to the provisions of this subchapter. Agencies may, alternately, at their discretion, procure services which include materiel other than professional services in accordance with 29 *Del. C.* § 6924 of this title.

For contracts bid under 29 *Del. C.* § 6981, the selection process may differ based on the type of service bid. Personnel should review the selection processes and differences between 29 *Del. C.* § 6982(a) and 29 *Del. C.* § 6982(b) prior to establishing a solicitation to ensure adherence to Delaware Code.

# 1.7 – PUBLIC WORKS

For purchases related to Public Works projects, the dollar amount thresholds listed below are on a contract-by-contract basis.

- Less than \$150,000 Open Market Purchase
- \$150,000 \$249,999 3 Letter Bids
- \$250,000 and over Formal Bid

29 Del. C. § 6960. Specifies the use of prevailing wage requirements.

(a) The specifications for every contract or aggregate of contracts relating to a public works project in excess of \$500,000 for new construction (including painting and decorating) or \$45,000 for alteration, repair, renovation, rehabilitation, demolition or reconstruction (including painting and decorating of buildings or works) to which this State or any subdivision thereof is a party and for which the State appropriated any part of the funds and which requires or involves the employment of mechanics and/or laborers shall contain a provision stating the minimum wages to be paid various classes of laborers and mechanics which shall be based upon the wages that will be determined by the Delaware Department of Labor, Division of Industrial Affairs, to be prevailing in the county in which the work is to be performed. As of January 1, 2016, the Delaware Department of Labor, Division of Industrial Affairs shall establish the prevailing wage for each respective craft or class of laborers and mechanics at the same rates established in collective bargaining agreements between labor organizations and their employers, or when collective bargaining agreement rates do not prevail, that govern work of a similar nature and similar crafts or classes of laborers and mechanics for the county where the public works contract will be performed if that particular labor organization's collective bargaining rate prevailed and they participated in the survey, for that particular trade or craft in that particular county for 4 consecutive years. When collective bargaining rates do not apply, the prevailing wage shall be the highest rate of the 4 years. If the agreed rate of pay is designated to be the craft's collective bargaining agreement, the annual rate adjustment will be determined by the collective bargaining agreement rate for each craft and county, each year. When collective bargaining rates do not prevail, the annual rate adjustment shall be the Consumer Price Index-Construction. If the prevailing wage cannot be reasonably and fairly determined in any locality because no such agreements exists or the collective bargaining rate has not prevailed for 4 consecutive years the Department shall use the prevailing wage as established by the Department's annual prevailing wage survey. There will be a 1-time challenge of the prevailing wage rate per cycle as in the Department regulations.

For each respective craft or class of laborers or mechanics, the craft or class whose collectively bargained wages as of January 1, 2015, for that particular labor organization's collective bargaining rate prevailed for that particular trade or craft in that particular county is the prevailing wage rate and whose rate has prevailed for 4 of the last 5 years, or will prevail in the future for 4 consecutive years, shall have their collective bargaining agreement adopted as the prevailing wage rate negotiated by industry standards between workers and employers and the raise be determined by the collective bargaining agreement rate as of September 1 for that craft, county, and year.

All other provisions of this law are to remain unchanged.

(b) Every contract based upon these specifications shall contain a stipulation that the employer shall pay all mechanics and laborers employed directly upon the site of the work, unconditionally and not less often

than once a week and without subsequent deduction or rebate on any account, the full amounts accrued at time of payment, computed at wage rates not less than those stated in the specifications, regardless of any contractual relationship which may be alleged to exist between the employer and such laborers and mechanics. The specifications shall further stipulate that the scale of wages to be paid shall be posted by the employer in a prominent and easily accessible place at the site of the work, and that there may be withheld from the employer so much of accrued payments as may be considered necessary by the Department of Labor to pay to laborers and mechanics employed by the employer the difference between the rates of wages required by the contract to be paid laborers and mechanics on the work and rates of wages received by such laborers and mechanics to be remitted to the Department of Labor for distribution upon resolution of any claims.

- (c) Every contract based upon these specifications shall contain a stipulation that sworn payroll information, as required by the Department of Labor, be furnished weekly. The Department of Labor shall keep and maintain the sworn payroll information for a period of 6 months from the last day of the work week covered by the payroll.
- (d) The Department of Labor shall investigate all claims that the prevailing wage rates as provided for under this section are not being or have not been paid. Upon finding that an employer has not paid or is not paying the prevailing wage rates, the Department of Labor shall notify the employer of the violations by certified mail and make an effort to obtain compliance. Upon failure to obtain compliance within 15 days of receipt of said certified mail, the Secretary may terminate all rights of the employer to proceed with the work under the public construction contract, and the employer shall be responsible for all damages resulting therefrom.
- (e) Any employer who knowingly fails or refuses to pay the prevailing wage rates provided for under this section, or who fails to submit payroll reports or post notice of the wage rates which apply to the project shall, for each such violation, be subject to a civil penalty of not less than \$1,000 nor more than \$5,000 for each violation. No public construction contract in this State shall be bid on, awarded to or received by any contractor or subcontractor or any person, firm, partnership or corporation in which such employer has an interest who, within 2 years after entry of a judgment pursuant to this chapter, is adjudicated in violation of this chapter in a subsequent proceeding until 3 years have elapsed from the date of the subsequent penalty judgment. A civil penalty claim may be filed in any court of competent jurisdiction.
- (f) Any laborer or mechanic employed by any employer, or the Department of Labor on behalf of any laborer or mechanic employed by any employer, who is paid in a sum less than the prevailing wage rates provided for under this section shall have a right of action against the employer in any court of competent jurisdiction to recover treble the difference between the amount so paid and the prevailing wage rate. Such action may be brought by the Department of Labor in the name and for the benefit of the laborer or mechanic with or without an assignment of the claim from the employee and upon notice to the aggrieved employee, the Department of Labor shall have the power to settle and adjust any such claim to the same extent as would the aggrieved employee. It shall not be a defense to such action that the underpayment was received by the laborer or mechanic without protest. Upon the filing of an action under this section, the employer shall post suitable bond approved by the court for the damages which may be recoverable thereunder. Any judgment entered for plaintiff shall include an award for reasonable attorney's fees and costs of prosecution. The Department of Labor shall not be required to pay the filing fee or other costs of the action or fees of any nature to file bond or other security of any nature in connection with such action or with proceedings supplementary thereto or as a condition precedent to the availability to the

Department of any process in aid of such action or proceedings. The Department shall have the authority to join various claimants in 1 preferred claim lien and, in case of suit, to join them in 1 cause of action.

- (g) Any wages collected under this chapter, but not claimed by the employee within 1 year from the date of collection, shall be retained by the Department of Labor for enforcement purposes.
- (h) No action to recover wages and damages under this section shall be brought after the expiration of 2 years from the accruing of the cause of action.
- (i) Whenever any person shall contract with another for the performance of any work which the contracting person has undertaken to perform, he or she shall become civilly liable to employees engaged in the performance of work under such contract for the payment of wages, exclusive of treble damages, as required under this section, whenever and to the extent that the employer of such employees fails to pay such wages, and the employer of such employees shall be liable to such person for any wages paid by the employer under this section. If pursuant to this subsection a person becomes civilly liable to employees of another, such liability shall not constitute a violation of this section for purposes of the termination, civil penalty and debarment provisions of subsections (d) and (e) of this section.
- (j) A contract manager shall be responsible for monitoring compliance with this section, but shall not become civilly liable to the same extent as the contracting person. For purposes of this section, "contract manager" means any person who performs the function of the contracting person without becoming a party to the contract of performance, but rather contracts with the recipient of the goods or services to act as his or her agent. A contract manager who knowingly fails or refuses to monitor compliance with this section shall, for each such failure or refusal, be subject to a civil penalty of not less than \$100 nor more than \$500. A civil penalty claim under this subsection may be filed in any court of competent jurisdiction. A contract manager's liability for a civil penalty pursuant to this subsection shall not constitute a violation of this section for purposes of the termination, civil penalty and debarment provisions of subsections (d) and (e) of this section.
- (k) Any employer who discharges or in any manner discriminates against an employee because that employee has made a complaint or has given information to the Department pursuant to this chapter, or because that employee has caused to be instituted or is about to cause to be instituted any proceedings under this chapter, or has testified or is about to testify in any such proceedings, shall be deemed in violation of this chapter and shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than \$1,000 nor more than \$5,000 for each violation.

# (I) [Repealed.]

(m) None of the specifications of this section shall apply to a project of the Department of Transportation wholly funded by Community Transportation Funds. None of the specifications of this section shall apply to a project wholly funded by the Municipal Street Aid Program authorized pursuant to Chapter 51 of Title 30

# 1.8 - PREVAILING WAGE DETERMINATION

The Department of Labor (DOL) establishes and enforces the payment of wage rates for laborers and mechanics employed on state-funded construction projects.

Prevailing rates must be paid on new construction projects costing more than \$500,000 and on alteration, repair, renovation, rehabilitation, demolition, or reconstruction projects costing more than \$45,000. For a project to be covered by the law, the State or any subdivision thereof must be a party to the publics works contract; and, the State must have appropriated any part of the funds.

DOL determines the classification of workers and the type of construction on state-funded construction projects. Wage rates are established by an annual survey conducted by the Department.

# **Current prevailing wage rates**

DOL maintains prevailing wage rates which are published for the general public at <a href="http://dia.delawareworks.com/labor-law/prevailing-wage.php">http://dia.delawareworks.com/labor-law/prevailing-wage.php</a>.

it shall be the practice of GSS that for all solicitations that may contain any element of covered activity defined as public works, that GSS shall seek a DOL determination as to the application/exemption of prevailing wage.

# 1.9 – SOLE SOURCE PROCUREMENT

A contract may be awarded without competition if the Agency head, prior to the procurement, determines in writing that there is only 1 source for the required contract. Sole source procurement shall not be used unless there is sufficient evidence that there is only 1 source for the required contract and no other type of goods or service will satisfy the requirements of the Agency. The Agency shall examine cost or pricing data prior to an award under this subsection. Sole source procurement shall be avoided, except when no reasonable alternative sources exist. A written determination by the Agency for the sole source procurement shall be included in the Agency's contract file. 29 *Del. C.* § 6904(i)

A best practice would be for an Agency to advertise a perceived sole source for the normal advertising period of a procurement as market conditions may have changed or vendors may exist that Agencies did not discover who are capable of meeting the State's needs.

# 1.10 - EMERGENCY / CRITICAL NEED PROCUREMENT

The authority to purchase urgently needed items arising from unforeseen causes, including, but not limited to, extreme weather conditions or official declared emergencies rests with each Agency head. An emergency procurement is handled outside of the normal competitive process because of the urgency of the circumstances, such as the immediate welfare of the general public. Therefore, an Agency head may determine an emergency condition exists by reason of extraordinary conditions or contingencies that could not reasonably be foreseen and guarded against. 29 *Del. C.* § 6907

Poor planning or the pending expiration of funds does not constitute a valid justification for an emergency purchase. It is always good business practice and considered to be in the best interest of the State to make any procurement as competitive as time permits. The emergency purchase process does not apply to requests for contract extensions or amendments, which require prior written approval.

An Agency head may waive any or all provisions of 29 *Del. C.* Chapter 69, State Procurement, to meet the critical needs of the Agency as required by emergencies or other conditions where it is determined to be in the best interest of the Agency. The Agency head may determine an emergency condition exists by reason of extraordinary conditions or contingencies that could not reasonably be foreseen and guarded against. An emergency condition creates an immediate and serious need for materiel and/or nonprofessional services that cannot be met through normal procurement methods for the protection of public health, safety, or property.

Agencies should consider the following conditions if proceeding with an emergency or critical need procurement:

- Emergency procurements shall be limited to those materials and/or nonprofessional services necessary to satisfy the emergency.
- Any public works project contracted under the emergency procurement authority are subject to the State's prevailing wage requirements.
- Any public works project contracted under the emergency procurement authority that qualifies as a large public works contract must comply with 29 *Del. C.*§ 6962.
- In the case of professional services, an Agency head may waive any or all provisions of 29 Del. C.
   Chapter 69, Subchapter VI Professional Services, to meet the critical need of the Agency as required by an emergency or other condition where it is determined to be in the best interest of the Agency.
  - Any professional services emergency procurement shall be limited to those professional services necessary to satisfy the critical need.
- A copy of each critical need determination processed under the emergency procurement procedures shall be kept on file by the Agency.

# 1.11 – PURCHASING OF USED EQUIPMENT

Any Agency may purchase used equipment or other materiel by negotiated purchase, rather than by competitive bidding, as provided in this chapter, if it is demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Agency head that the negotiated price is reasonable for the intended use. 29 *Del. C.* § 6934

The contracting Agency shall use lifecycle costing analysis as specified in 29 *Del. C.* § 6902(15) and 29 *Del. C.* § 6909A(b) of this title prior to demonstrating to the Agency head that the negotiated price is reasonable for the intended use.

Purchases of used equipment costing less than \$5,000 may be approved by the Cabinet Secretary or

Purchases of used equipment costing \$5,000 or more but less than \$10,000 must be requested by letter to the OMB Director. The letter will include a detailed description of the item purchased, cost, useful life, purpose for which the item was acquired, and the name, address, and telephone number of the seller.

Used vehicles employed by any Agency for undercover operations may be purchased by negotiation rather than by competitive bidding, provided that the negotiated prices are approved by the OMB Director and the Controller General. (29 *Del. C.*§ 6906(c)).

All items costing \$10,000 or more must be presented to the OMB Director for approval

Used Equipment does not include demonstration, factory rebuilt, remanufactured or model year left over.

Reasons for the purchase of used equipment may be, but are not limited to:

- the inability to secure new equipment,
- the lack of adequate funds for new equipment, or
- used equipment will satisfy the Agency's need at a substantial savings.

# 1.12 – SMALL PURCHASING PROCEDURE

The "Small Purchase Procedures" are issued pursuant to the authority provided in 29 *Del. C.* § 6922, as approved by the Contracting & Purchasing Advisory Council. The Council establishes thresholds that trigger formal bidding procedures in the areas of Materiel and Non-Professional Services, Public Works, and Professional Services.

State agencies are only required to use the formal bidding procedures when a purchase is made or plans to be made, in an amount that exceeds the threshold limit.

Purchases under established thresholds shall follow the procedures set forth in the State Budget and Accounting Manual and consistent with Agency supplier diversity plans.

The Budget and Accounting Manual is published at: https://budget.delaware.gov/accounting-manual/index.shtml

The Agency Supplier Diversity Plans are published at: <a href="https://business.delaware.gov/osd/supplier-diversity-plans/">https://business.delaware.gov/osd/supplier-diversity-plans/</a>

The Small Purchase Thresholds are published at: <a href="https://mymarketplace.delaware.gov/agencies/spp.shtml">https://mymarketplace.delaware.gov/agencies/spp.shtml</a>

# NOTE:

- (Non-professional) Goods and Services' thresholds are determined by anticipated annual expenditure limits.
- Professional Services' thresholds are determined by the total expenditure associated with the professional service sought and is for the duration of the need. It is not limited to expenditures within an annual period.
- Public Works' thresholds are determined based on the expense associated with the project.

# 1.13 – CONTRACT AUDIT PROCEDURES

Pursuant to 29 *Del. C.* § 6930, GSS Contracting may request an audit be performed on any contract. This audit may be performed during the contract period or up to three (3) years from the date that the final payment was made to the contractor or subcontractor. The following steps should be used when a decision to audit has been made:

A written request must be sent from the Contract Officer to the Auditor of Accounts requesting an audit. This request should state:

- The contract name and number
- The contract period
- The contractors name, address, contact and telephone number
- The reason for requesting the audit
- Specific items to be audited should be identified
- When the audit is to be performed

When the Auditor of Accounts receives the request for audit, they should notify the Contract Officer in writing of receipt of notification, who will perform the audit and when the audit is to be performed.

Upon completion of the audit, the Contract Officer should receive notification from the Auditor of Accounts. This notification should be in writing and should include the audit finding and what action will be taken.

A copy of the audit finding should be maintained in the contract file.

The State may choose through terms and conditions to require access to records for a period longer than 3 years if in the best interest of the State (i.e., Sarbanes-Oxley, SECC, etc.). In situations where periods longer than 3 years are required the procedures outlined in section 1.11 shall be followed to conduct any audits. (Current templates identify an audit period of five years.)

Otherwise, GSS Contracting currently has a central contract titled Contract Compliance Audits and Cost Recovery Services. The current contract information is available at <a href="https://mmp.delaware.gov/Contracts/Details/5910">https://mmp.delaware.gov/Contracts/Details/5910</a>

# CHAPTER 2 – ESTABLISHING A NEW CONTRACT

# 2.1 – TYPES OF SOLICITATIONS

# **DISTINCTION OF TYPES**

There are distinct types of formal procurements, each with specific sections of Delaware Code. It should be observed within this manual the distinct use of bids, proposals, and professional services as they pertain to the different procurement types. The type, Delaware Code reference, and language distinction is clarified below. Wherever possible, the Delaware Code reference is provided throughout this manual for clarity.

Туре	Solicitation	Response	Del. C. Reference
Competitive Sealed Bidding	Invitation to Bid (ITB)	Bid	29 <i>Del. C.</i> § 6923
(Material and Non-Professional Services)		ый	29 Del. C. 9 0923
Competitive Sealed Proposal	Request for Proposal (RFP)	Proposal	29 <i>Del. C.</i> § 6924
(Material and Non-Professional Services)	Request for Proposal (KFP)	Proposai	23 Del. C. 9 0324
Professional Services	Request for Proposal (RFP)	Proposal	29 <i>Del. C.</i> § 6981

#### **INVITATION TO BID**

An Invitation to Bid, or ITB, (29 *Del. C.* § 6923 Competitive Sealed Bidding) is a solicitation for materiel or non-professional services for which cost is the overriding consideration in making an award. Organizations are invited to submit bids reflecting aggressive pricing for products or non-professional services that meet the requirements detailed in the ITB. The bidder with the lowest price is awarded the contract provided the bidder meets the minimum criteria established in the ITB.

# NON-PROFESSIONAL SERVICES REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

A Non-Professional Services Request for Proposal, or RFP, (29 *Del. C.* § 6924 Competitive Sealed Proposals) is a solicitation made through a proposal process used by an Agency interested in the procurement of a commodity or service. It invites potential suppliers to submit business proposals that address the agencies needs and provides a solution to the business problem presented in a specification or statement of work along with associated pricing and costs. The Request for Proposal process brings structure to the procurement decision and is meant to allow the risks and benefits to be identified and addressed in a formal process. The proposal evaluation is a combination of qualitative (i.e. response times, service metrics, experience, etc.) and quantitative measures (i.e. price).

Typically, for a non-professional service RFP the price component will be limited to not less than 30% and not more than 50% of any scoring criteria.

# PROFESSIONAL SERVICES REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

Professional Services are more complex and are a separate type of RFP with direction in 29 *Del. C.* § 6980 and § 6981, and are divided into small and large procurement processes.

The threshold for Small Professional Services is less than \$50,000. The amount is determined by the total cost of the proposed contract for the completed job, which would include extensions of the contract.

Large Professional Services RFP procurements are those valued at \$50,000 or more. The amount is determined by the total cost for the complete job and are categorized in two sections. In Delaware Code, they are sections § 6982(a) and § 6982(b).

§ 6982(a). These are professional services within the scope of the practice of architecture, construction management, and professional engineering. These are typically related to Public Works projects, and not currently within the activities of Government Support Services. Procurements under subsection 6982(a) shall not include a price/cost component in the evaluation of the proposals. Instead, prices for services are negotiated "at a price the Agency determines to be fair and reasonable".

§ 6982(b). These professional services are those that do not fall within the 6982(a) category. They are services which generally require specialized education, training or knowledge and involve intellectual skills. Procurements under subsection 6982(b) may consider price as an evaluation factor. Price is recommended as best practice between 10% but not more than 30% of the scoring criteria.

Professional Services are negotiated in a different manner with different requirements based on category utilized, and the methodologies are spelled out in greater detail in § 6982(a) and (b).

# 2.2 - MARKET RESEARCH

A new contract typically begins with a request from an Agency. Below you will find a GSS' basic outline for how the request should be evaluated.

- A good(s) or service(s) request from an Agency is sent to the State Contract Administrator (SCA).
- The SCA forwards the request to a State Contract Procurement Supervisor, who then conducts an initial review of the request.
  - The Supervisor determines if the good(s)/service(s) are/aren't on a central contract.
  - If on a central contract, Supervisor notifies the Agency (copying the State Contract Procurement Officer (SCPO) responsible for the central contract), and the Agency is directed to use the central contract.
    - If a central contract exists, but the requested good or service is not covered, the Supervisor can consider adding the line item to a current awarded contract. However, prior to addition and/or a request for contract pricing from the awarded vendor(s), the Supervisor shall engage the SCA for approval.
  - o If no central contract exists, the Supervisor determines if there are any Agency Contracts available that will allow another Agency to piggyback.
  - If an Agency contract exists, and the contract can be utilized or piggybacked, the SCPO directs the Agency to utilize the existing Agency Contract.
    - Utilization of an Agency Contract is subject to 29 Del. C.§ 6904(e).
  - If no Agency contract exists and the procurement need is not common to two or more agencies, the Requesting Agency will be encouraged to issue an RFP/ITB unless the procurement need is time sensitive for reasons other than delayed action on the part of the Requesting Agency in which case the State Contract Procurement Supervisor will check to see if an eligible cooperative of GSA schedule offers the good(s)/service(s).
- The Supervisor notifies the SCA of the recommended course of action;

- If a cooperative or new GSS contract is approved, SCA will assign a contract number and SCPO to work through the contract process.
- SCPO starts the Contracting Process Checklist and follows the Contract Process Flow Chart.

# 2.3 - PROCUREMENT PLANNING

Factors to consider in developing a procurement timeline include:

- how soon will the product(s) be needed?
- standard industry lead times
- the level of detail required in the scope of work,
- how many agencies will be involved in the user group?
- whether a pre-bid meeting or site visit will be required
- whether the solicitation will require unique review(s) by other agencies such as Department of Technology and Information, Attorney General's Office, Division of Facilities Management, etc., whether samples will be required, and anticipated competition

A preliminary cost estimate (benchmark) should be prepared to assist in determining if the bids received are reasonable to market conditions.

# 2.4 – USER COMMITTEE [29 *Del. C.* § 6911(c)]

GSS Contracting shall provide reasonable opportunity for each Covered Agency anticipating the purchase of materiel covered by a central contract to participate in development, evaluation, and award of the contract. To facilitate this participation GSS will establish a User Group for the contract to perform at least the following functions during the ITB process.

GSS Contracting shall establish, convene, and chair User Groups [29 *Del. C.* § 6912] for the purchase of materiel or service or group of materiel and/or services by a central contract or contracts. Convention of a user group may include, but is not limited to, a formal meeting, e-mail among User Group members, and/or a teleconference among User Group members. A user group shall perform at least the following functions:

- Make recommendations on the specifications of the contract
- Rate vendors, materials and/or services
- Rate the effectiveness of the contract; and
- Qualify a materiel and/or service

Prior to the first meeting and/or engagement of the User Group participants, the SCPO shall provide intended user group members with the user group guidelines established by the Section. A User Committee Attendance Sheet should be used for all meetings, and user group members should be reminded that all activities that occur in participation, interaction, including notes, emails, scoring comments, etc. are subject to FOIA disclosures.

# 2.5 – SCOPE DEVELOPMENT

Taking into consideration the market research initially completed, a draft scope of work is developed. This will provide the agencies a basic framework or guideline to work with, rather than starting from nothing.

In addition to product and/or service specific requirements, the user committee should provide feedback on things such as:

- Delivery (and set up)
- Warranties
- Service location requirements
- Response time
- Maintenance
- Customer service
- IT requirements
- Licensing/certifications

#### 2.6 - BONDS

Evaluate the need to require a bid and / or performance bond. Considerations should include but are not limited to the criticality of the materiel, the infrastructure a bidder may need to have in place, and competition in the marketplace.

When applicable, if supported by market research, precedence, etc., requests to waive bond requirements are to be submitted to the Director's Office for approval to waive. In the absence of an approved waiver the provision of a bond is required for all procurements.

# **BID BONDS**

- A bid bond is issued as part of a bidding process by the surety to the project owner, to guarantee that the winning bidder will undertake the contract under the terms at which they bid.
- 29 *Del. C.* § 6927(a) states "For the purchase of materiel and nonprofessional services, in accordance with 29 *Del. C.* § 6923 of this title, the Agency or a representative delegated by the Agency may, at their discretion, require that bids be accompanied..."
- A deposit of either a good and sufficient bond to the State for the benefit of the Agency involved; such bonds shall be issued with a corporate surety authorized to do business in this State, the surety shall be approved by the Agency, and the bond form used shall be the standard form included as part of the bid documents issued by the Office of Management and Budget for this purpose; or
- A security of the bidder assigned to the Agency for a sum equal to at least 10% of the bid.
- The bid bond or bid security need not be for a specific sum but may be stated to be for a sum equal to 10% of the bid to which it relates. A bid bond or bid security may be stated as a certain stated sum provided that the sum is equal to or greater than 10% of the bid.
- Bid or performance bonds shall not be used as a substitute for a determination of bidder responsibility. If a bid is withdrawn at any time before bid opening, any bid security shall be returned to the bidder.

- Upon the execution of a formal contract and performance bond, the bid bond shall be returned to the successful bidder.
- The bond or certified check from an unsuccessful bidder(s) shall be returned immediately upon award of the contract to the successful bidder no later than 30 days after the opening of the bids.
- In lieu of a bid bond, the bidder may submit a certified check.
- The decision to waive the requirement of a bid bond must be clearly stated in the bid special provisions.

# **PERFORMANCE BONDS**

- A performance bond is a surety bond issued by an insurance company or a bank to guarantee satisfactory completion of a project by a contractor.
- 29 Del. C. § 6927(d) specifies that "Simultaneous with the execution of the formal contract..., the procuring Agency may require the successful bidder to execute a good and sufficient bond to the State for the benefit of the Agency."
- Performance bonds shall:
  - o Be with a corporate surety authorized to do business in this State.
  - Be in a sum equal to 100% of the contract award, except contracts for the purchase of material with a value less than the threshold amount(s) may reduce or waive this bond requirement from the successful bidder. Such reduction or waiver shall be stated in the bid specifications.
  - Be in the standard form issued by the Office of Management and Budget for this purpose and shall be included in the projects' bid documents.
- The contents of performance bonds. The bond shall be conditioned upon the faithful compliance and performance by the successful bidder of each and every term and condition of the contract and the proposal, plans and specifications thereof. Each term and condition shall be met at the time and in the manner prescribed by the contract and the specifications, including the payment in full to every person furnishing material or performing labor in the performance of the contract, of all sums of money due the person for such labor and material. The bond shall also contain the successful bidder's guarantee to indemnify and save harmless the State and the Agency from all costs, damages and expenses growing out of or by reason of the successful bidder's failure to comply and perform the work and complete the contract in accordance with the contract.
- Other security for contracts under threshold amount(s). Contracts for the purchase of materiel and nonprofessional services valued less than the threshold amount(s) set by the Contracting and Purchasing Advisory Council may contain a waiver of the bond requirement provided that the successful vendor post with the State an irrevocable letter of credit or other suitable or readily collectible financial security for the project. Such letter of credit or other security shall be issued for a term commencing simultaneously with the execution of the formal contract and terminating no later than 3 years subsequent to the date of delivery of such materiel or nonprofessional service or to the extent of the warranty period, whichever is greater. In no event shall such

security expire without the express written approval of the State. Such waiver as described in this paragraph shall be stated in the bid specifications. 29 *Del. C.* § 6927(g).

Public Works performance bonding requirements. Simultaneous with the execution of the formal
contract, the successful bidder shall also execute a good and sufficient bond to the contracting
agency for the benefit of the agency, with corporate surety authorized to do business in this State,
in a sum equal to 100% of the contract price and the bond form used shall be the standard form
issued by the Office of Management and Budget. 29 Del. C. § 6962(d)(9). The Division of Facilities
Management (DFM) has waiver authority.

# 2.7 – PRE-BID MEETINGS

In the event a pre-bid conference or site visit is necessary, requested or desired, indicate date, time, place, and whether attendance is mandatory or optional.

An Agency may conduct a pre-bid conference [29 *Del. C.* § 6923(f)] within a reasonable time but not less than 7 days before a bid opening to explain the requirements of an invitation to bid or request for proposal. An Agency may require mandatory attendance by bidders at such pre-bid conferences to qualify as a responsible and responsive bidder. Statements made at the pre-bid conference shall not be considered amendments to the solicitation unless a written amendment is issued.

Attendance may be mandatory or optional and shall be stated as such in both the solicitation or MyMarketPlace advertisements. It should be clearly noted that failure to attend a "mandatory" pre-bid meeting shall preclude the opportunity to submit a proposal.

All parties attending a pre-bid meeting must sign a Pre-Bid Conference Attendance Sheet. At bid openings which require a mandatory pre-bid meeting, only bids from those who attended and signed the pre-bid register are to be opened. Unopened bids should be returned with an explanation of rejection.

The completed sheet should be submitted to <u>contracting@delaware.gov</u> along with the My Market Place Document Submission form for posting on the State procurement website.

If, as a result of the pre-bid meeting, the Division realizes that a change needs to be made, an addendum to the provisions of the ITB/RFP needs to be posted on the Bid Solicitation Directory in a timely manner.

All questions at the pre-bid meeting must be answered to the prospective bidders' satisfaction with the questions and answers captured for inclusion in the Q&A document to be posted online. All unanswered questions that need either further clarification or additional research shall be responded to in writing by posting on the Bid Solicitation Directory.

# 2.8 - MULTIPLE SOURCING

Pursuant to 29 *Del. C.* § 6926 an Agency may award a contract for a particular materiel or nonprofessional service to 2 or more firms, if the Agency head determines such an award is in the best interest of the State. If such a determination is made, the advertisement shall include a notification of the right of the Agency to make such an award and the criteria upon which such an award shall be based.

The solicitation must specify that: "Agency reserves the right to reject any or all proposals in whole or in part, to make multiple awards, partial awards, award by types, item by item, or lump sum total, whichever may be most advantageous to the State of Delaware."

The last sentence should not be included if multiple sourcing is intended. Multiple awarding is a valuable way to require vendors continue to compete for the provision of goods and services by ensuring competition within the formal award. Multiple awarding also provides for additional supply opportunities if one awarded vendor becomes unable to service the contract.

#### 2.9 – PREPARE SOLICITATION

The most current solicitation templates can be found on the Agency Bid Process Forms webpage which can be accessed via the Agency Resources section on <a href="https://mymarketplace.delaware.gov">https://mymarketplace.delaware.gov</a>.

The templates have been vetted by legal counsel and include terms and conditions crafted to ensure compliance with the varied laws, rules, and policies applicable to the procurement of material and/or services.

The template includes areas for insertion of Technical Specifications / Scope of Work. It is within this section of the template that information specific to an individual contract should be placed.

The template also prompts for insertion of the contract number, contract name, key dates, and information pertaining to pre-bid meetings and the delivery of bids/proposals.

- Contract ID: The construct for the contract number is provided in the Agency Solicitation Request.
- PERIOD OF CONTRACT: The solicitation must state from "contract execution" or a specified date through a specified date, a specified number of days after execution or "final acceptance."
- SEALED BIDS WILL BE RECEIVED UNTIL: Specify the exact time and date in the solicitation and advertisement [29 Del. C. § 6923(c)]. Best practices identify this bid receipt date should be a minimum of 14 days after initial advertisement on <a href="https://mmp.delaware.gov/Bids/">https://mmp.delaware.gov/Bids/</a>. 29 Del. C.§ 6923(b) identifies advertisement for "2 consecutive weeks." However, exceptions allow for a shorter time, if "a shorter time is deemed necessary for a particular procurement as determined in writing by the Agency."
- PRE-BID CONFERENCE or SITE VISIT: In the event a pre-bid conference or site visit is necessary, requested or desired, indicate date, time, place, and whether attendance is mandatory or optional. Pre-bid conferences should not occur less than seven days after the initial posting of a bid on <a href="https://mmp.delaware.gov/Bids/">https://mmp.delaware.gov/Bids/</a>, to comply with procurement code and public notice guidelines.
- BOND FORMS: Ensure bond forms are included where applicable or required waivers are obtained.
- EVALUATION CRITERIA (RFP only): The request for proposals shall state the relative weight given to the factors in evaluating proposals. [29 *Del. C.* § 6924(b)(4)].

While the requirements within the Technical Requirements / Scope of Work can introduce terms and conditions beyond those appearing elsewhere in the template, it is recommended that those terms and conditions appearing elsewhere in the template not be altered or removed unless there is a specific prompt making an allowance for such.

# 2.10 - DEVELOP OUTREACH

While the completed solicitation will be posted on the State's procurement portal, there are benefits by reaching out to potential vendors in an effort to gain visibility of the solicitation and maximize potential competition. Outreach procedures are found in Chapter 9 of this document.

# 2.11 - MANAGEMENT REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF CONTRACT SUMMARY FORM

Submit the solicitation along with Agency Solicitation Request to Contract Supervisor for review and sign off on the Contract Process Checklist.

# 2.12 – ISSUE THE SOLICITATION

Submit the solicitation and any stand-alone appendices along with the Agency Solicitation Request to: contracting@delaware.gov. The request for approval to post the solicitation must include a 10-business day period to review existing state contracts for aggregation opportunities. Failure to submit a request for publication inclusive of this timeline should not be considered grounds for an emergency purchase or critical need as defined in 29 *Del. C.*§ 6907. Public notice of solicitation shall be accessible to the public in a manner prescribed pursuant to § 6902(10) of this title for 2 consecutive weeks.

GSS will conduct a solicitation review for compliance with the Procurement Code prior to posting

#### 2.13 – GSS SOLICITATON REVIEW

**Certain solicitations require specific additional approvals**. If you are soliciting for any of the services / products below <u>include a copy of the required approval(s)</u> with your submission.

**Technology Related Procurements.** In addition to the requirements of Title 29, Chapter 69 of the Delaware Code for procurement, technology related solicitations require project review by the Delaware Department of Technology and Information pursuant to 29 *Del. C.* 9004(c) and Governor Markell Administration Executive Order 20. In order to complete this section for solicitation approval agencies must have completed the DTI Business Case process and have a status of Approves or Pending Approved for the solicitation to be released.

 Technology solutions impacting the First State Financial System (FSF) in any way must have approval from the Government Support Services (GSS) Director.

**Public Works.** In addition to the review of Title 29, Chapter 69 of the Delaware Code for procurement, public works solicitations require:

- Review and approval by the OMB Division of Facilities Management (DFM) pursuant to 29 Del.
   C. § 6307A, 29 Del. C. § 7419, 29 Del. C. § 6962(d) (4) (a) (5), and Governor Markell Administration Executive Order 18.
- Review and approval by the Delaware Architectural Review Board (AAB) pursuant to 20 Del. C. §
  7308

**Legal Services.** In addition to the requirements of Title 29, Chapter 69 of the Delaware Coder for procurement, legal services require prior approval by the Governor's Office as well as the Office of the Attorney General pursuant to 20 *Del. C.* § 2507.

**Audit Services.** In addition to the requirements of Title 29, Chapter 69 of the Delaware Coder for procurement, audit services solicitations require prior approval of the Auditor pursuant to 29 *Del. C.* § 2906. In order to receive approval for publication of a solicitation for Audit Services, agencies must provide approval documentation from the Office of the Auditor.

- Audit Services solicitations must include the requirement for the awarded vendor to comply with the published DTI Security Clearance Policy inclusive of completion of a criminal background check when the vendor will have access to non-public data.
- If the awarded vendor will have access to the State Network, the vendor must additionally sign and comply with published DTI <u>Acceptable Use Policy</u>.

**Asbestos.** In addition to the requirements of Title 29, Chapter 69 of the Delaware Coder for procurement, asbestos solicitations require review and approval by the Division of Facilities Management (DFM) pursuant to <u>16 Del. C. § 7805</u>. In order to receive approval for this type of solicitation, agencies must have approved plans from DFM for the solicitation to be released.

**Architecture & Engineering Services.** In addition to the requirements of Title 29, Chapter 69 of the Delaware Code for procurement, Architecture and Engineering Services contracts require review and approval by the OMB Division of Facilities Management (DFM) pursuant to 29 *Del. C.* § 7419.

**Utilities.** Solicitations for electricity, gas, and other sources of fuel and energy procured on both retail and wholesale energy markets require the approval of both the Director of the Office of Management and Budget and the Controller General. Reference 75 Delaware Laws <a href="Chapter 243">Chapter 243</a>.

# 2.14 - COMPLETE OUTREACH

Send e-mail notifications of availability of the solicitation to organizations identified in step 2.10 above.

# 2.15 - ISSUE ADDENDA

Changes, modifications, or addenda to the posting of a solicitation may be completed prior to bid opening by properly noticing on <a href="https://mymarketplace.delaware.gov">https://mymarketplace.delaware.gov</a>. Vendors remain responsible to be aware of all changes issued for an active solicitation. However, proper notice should be provided wherever possible to give all vendors the best opportunity to respond to the changes from the original posting in their proposals.

Issue addenda to correct errors, change bid due date or to make any other necessary changes that were identified during the pre-bid meeting, site visit, etc.

Addenda to solicitations [29 *Del. C.* § 6923(g)] shall be so identified, numbered consecutively, and shall be submitted to <u>contracting@delaware.gov</u> along with the MyMarketplace Document Submission form for posting on the State's procurement portal.

If the addenda change the bid due date, this should be clearly identified in the Document Submission form so that the related fields on the website can be updated.

#### 2.16 – RECEIVING AND OPENING BIDS

RECEIVING, OPENING AND RECORDING OF BIDS [29 Del. C. § 6923(j)].

- Each hardcopy bid shall be time stamped upon receipt and stored by the Agency unopened in a secure place until the time and date set for bid opening. Bids received virtually will use the date and time of receipt by the Agency. Electronic signatures can be considered as described in section 9.9 of this manual.
- A hardcopy bid envelope that is not marked as a bid or does not identify the bidder or solicitation may be opened or read solely for the purpose of identification. A record shall be made on the envelope of the reason for opening it, the date and time it was opened, the solicitation to which the bid responded and the signature of the person who opened the envelope. The envelope shall be resealed and retained in the procurement file.
- Bids shall be opened publicly and in the presence of 1 or more witnesses at the time, date and location designated in the invitation. Only the proposers name shall be announced at the public bid opening. The bid information made available at the public opening shall be recorded on a Bid Opening Register and recorded electronically if virtual which shall be published on the Bid Solicitation Directory.
- Bids, bid summaries, and bid tabulations shall not be available for public inspection before contract(s) have been fully executed. 29 *Del. C.* §6923(c)(3). For Competitive Sealed Proposals, this is addressed in 29 *Del. C.* §6924(j)(3).
- After contract execution(s), the bids shall be available for public inspection, except to the extent that withholding of information is permitted by 29 *Del. C.* Chapter 100 or otherwise permitted or required by law. If the bidder designates a portion of its bid as confidential, it shall isolate and identify in writing the confidential portions. The bidder shall include with this designation a statement that explains and supports the firm's claim that the bid items identified as confidential contain trade secrets or other proprietary data.

#### RECEIVING LATE BIDS 29 Del. C. § 6923(i).

- A bid or withdrawal of a bid is late if it is received at the location designated in the solicitation for receipt of bids after the bid submission deadline identified in the ITB/RFP.
- No bids are to be accepted after the bid submission deadline identified in the ITB/RFP.

- Bidders submitting bids or withdrawals of bids that are late shall be notified as soon as practicable and they have ten business days to arrange for pickup of the bid if hardcopy.
- Documentation concerning a late bid or late withdrawal of a bid shall be retained in the appropriate procurement file.

# 2.17 - CANCELLATION OF THE SOLICITATION

Solicitations may be canceled or any or all bids may be rejected in whole per reference to applicable section of Delaware Code:

- 29 Del. C.§ 6923(I) for ITB
- 29 Del. C.§ 6924(k) for RFP
- 29 Del. C.§ 6962(d) (13) (f) Public Works
- 29 Del. C.§ 6982(a) (3) Professional Services

For reason of Best Interest of the State, if cancelling prior to the opening of bids, all responding bidders must be notified in writing.

The reason for cancellation shall be posted on My Marketplace. Delaware.gov with the solicitation and made part of the contract file.

In the event of cancellation of a bid, any bids that have been received shall be returned unopened to the bidders. Individual bidders will be given an opportunity to recover their bids from the Agency, or after a reasonable time period, have their submitted bid destroyed.

Should it become necessary to recompete the solicitation, a previously cancelled solicitation does not impact the requirement to follow the standard ITB/RFP procedures.

#### 2.18 - BID EVALUATION

It shall be the responsibility of the contracting officer to keep all bids and bid tabulations strictly confidential and no information is to be revealed to anyone, outside of the evaluation team, until the award is finalized.

# **RESPONSIBILITY OF OFFERORS**

An Agency shall determine that an offeror is responsible before awarding a contract to that offeror. Factors to be considered:

- The offeror's financial, physical, personnel or other resources, including subcontracts
- The offeror's record of performance and integrity
- Whether the offeror is qualified legally to contract with the State
- Whether the offeror supplied all necessary information concerning its responsibility; and
- Any other specific criteria for a particular procurement which an Agency may establish provided, that the criteria shall be set forth in the solicitation and is otherwise in conformity with state and/or federal law

#### INITIAL BID OR PROPOSAL REJECTION FOR MATERIAL OR NON-PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

Determine Responsiveness. Before doing a complete evaluation of bids/proposals submitted in response to a solicitation, it is appropriate to complete a preliminary review of the proposals received. The following may negate the need to complete a bid tabulation.

- It shall be the policy of Government Support Services, Contracting, that the Director and Deputy Director's office be notified within (24) twenty-four hours after completion of the bid/proposal review when a vendor's bid appears to be necessary for rejection under:
  - o 29 *Del. C.* § 6923(i) Late Bids and Late Modifications, (n) Rejection of Individual Bids (o) Responsiveness of Bidders; and/or
  - 29 Del. C. § 6924(e) Late Proposals or Late Withdrawals (I) Rejection of Individual Proposals (m) Responsibility of Offers.
- A complete package containing all relevant documentation regarding the rejection should be forwarded to the Deputy Director's office for review.
- The GSS Director will provide final authority on determination of responsiveness of a vendor proposal. If a vendor package has been determined to be non-responsive the vendor shall be notified in accordance with 29 Del. C. § 6923(o).

Regardless of the condition for disqualification the bidder must be notified in writing that his bid has been determined to be non-responsive as explained in the letter.

Once an initial responsiveness has been determined, evaluators shall proceed with the next steps of the bid evaluation.

FOR ALL BIDS – BID REVIEW 29 Del. C. § 6923(k)

Review all bids to determine if the bids conform in all material respects to the solicitation. Evaluate responsive bids in accordance with the bid evaluation procedure contained in the solicitation.

Any of the following causes, but not limited to those listed, may be considered sufficient for the disqualification of a bid or proposal:

- More than one proposal for the same contract from an individual, firm or corporation under the same or different names
- Failure to submit a signed and notarized non-collusion statement.
- Evidence of collusion among bidders
- Unsatisfactory performance record as documented by past experience
- If the unit prices are obviously unbalanced either in excess or below reasonable cost analysis values
- If there are any unauthorized additions, interlineations, conditional or alternate bids or irregularities of any kind which may tend to make the proposal incomplete, indefinite, or ambiguous as to its meaning

- Non-attendance of mandatory pre-bid meetings
- Failure to adhere to any mandatory requirements as noted in the solicitation

# FOR ITB, 29 Del. C. § 6923(k)

- A bid tabulation form should be prepared showing at a minimum the bidders and bid prices.
- The contract shall be awarded to the lowest responsible and responsive bidder whose bid meets the requirements and evaluation criteria set forth in the invitation to bid. If the Invitation to Bid so provides, award may be made by individual line item, by group of line items, by county, zone or any other way designated by the Agency or for the aggregate total of all line items; otherwise, award shall be made in lump sum. A formal contract shall be executed with the successful bidder within 20 days after the award of the contract.
- A contract may be awarded to a firm other than the lowest responsible and responsive bidder if, in the opinion of the Agency, the interests of the State shall be better served by awarding the contract to some other bidder provided the Agency head makes a written determination of the reason or reasons for granting the contract to a firm other than the lowest responsible and responsive bidder.
- A product acceptability evaluation may be conducted to determine whether a bidder's product
  meets the bid specifications. Any bidder's offer that does not meet the bid specifications shall be
  rejected as nonresponsive.
- Bids shall be evaluated to determine which bidder offers the lowest cost to the Agency in accordance with the evaluation criteria set forth in the invitation to bid. Only objectively measurable criteria that are set forth in the invitation to bid shall be applied in determining the lowest bidder. Examples of such criteria include, but are not limited to, transportation cost, energy cost, ownership cost and other identifiable costs. Evaluation factors need not be precise predictors of actual future costs, but to the extent possible, the evaluation factors shall be reasonable estimates based upon information the Agency has available concerning future use. Prior unsatisfactory performance on a state contract by a bidder may be included in the evaluation criteria to determine if a bidder is responsible.
- A contract may not be awarded to a bidder submitting a higher quality item than that designated
  in the invitation for bids unless the bidder is also the lowest bidder as determined under this
  section. The Agency may seek clarification of a bid, but negotiations are not permitted with any
  bidder.
- If 2 or more responsible firms bid an equal amount and such amount is the lowest bid, the Agency may award the contract to any 1 of them or reject all bids.
- A record showing the basis for determining the successful bidder shall be retained in the Agency procurement file.
- A written notice of award shall be sent to the successful bidder. For procurement greater than
  the threshold amount(s), each unsuccessful bidder shall be notified of the award. Notice of award
  shall be made available to the public.

# FOR RFP, 29 Del. C. § 6924(f)

- A bid tabulation form should be prepared showing at a minimum the bidders and bid prices.
- There should always be only one version of the bid tabulation.
- The bid tabulation should be done on an Excel spreadsheet. The format is variable and depends on the contract specifications and commodities.

- The User Group must complete independent evaluation of reviewable bids and score the bids in all areas of the evaluation except for pricing. Pricing shall be completed by the SCPO in a blind method separate from the evaluation group, and not shared with the user group until after qualitative evaluations have been completed and the full scoring summarized.
- If the Bid Tabulations are incomplete, due to lack of complete response from any evaluator, it must be brought to the attention of the Director's office prior to proceeding. For the purpose of conducting negotiations, the Agency shall determine that proposals are either likely to be selected for award or unacceptable. A determination that a proposal is unacceptable shall be in writing, state the basis of the determination and be retained in the procurement file. If the Agency determines that an offerors proposal is unacceptable, the Agency shall notify that offeror of the determination and that the offeror shall not be afforded an opportunity to modify its offer.

# FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICE, 29 Del C., § 6982(a), § 6982(b)

There are two types of Professional Services, (a) professional services within the scope of the practice of architecture, or professional engineering and (b) professional services not of the previous described type. They are commonly referred to by their section of Delaware Code, 6982(a) and 6982(b).

# 6982(a) BID EVALUATION

- The Agency ranks in order of preference the qualified applicants
- Beginning with the qualified firm designated first on the list, the Agency negotiates at fair compensation
- Should the Agency be unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract, negotiations are terminated
- The Agency may negotiate with remaining firms by order of ranking
- After completing negotiations, the Agency shall select 1 applicant and prepare public notice within 10 days after awarding the contract.
- The Agency may negotiate with the next firm and continue the selection process until the required number of vendors have been selected

# 6982(b) BID EVALUATION

- The Agency determines all applicants that meet minimum requirements
- The Agency interviews at least 1 of the qualified firms. The Agency may negotiate with 1 or more firms during the same period. At any point, the Agency may terminate negotiations with any or all firms.
- All professional services contracts shall provide the original contract price at time of contracting.

NOTE: Unlike the other forms of solicitations identified, for bids involving 6982(a), the bidding Agency shall not ask for any pricing at the time proposals are submitted. As referenced above, final determination of price is subject to negotiated fair compensation. Further, for facilities related architectural and engineering related contracts, the bidding Agency is directed to work with the Division of Facilities Management for contract approval prior to the execution of any contract with a selected vendor. For more information, please refer to the following site: <a href="https://example.com/Architectural and Engineering Services">Architectural and Engineering Services</a>

# 2.19 – CONTRACT AWARD

The negotiated award is reviewed and approved by the Contract Administrator. Once an award is determined and signed off by Section leadership, all bidders must be notified regarding the status of their bid.

ITB (29 *Del. C.*§ 6923). The Award must be made within thirty (30) days after bids are opened for Invitation to Bids.

RFP (29 *Del. C.*§ 6924). The Award must be made within ninety (90) days for Request for Proposals after the bids are opened. The award shall be made to the responsible offeror or offerors whose proposal is most advantageous to the State Agency or a local public body, taking into consideration the evaluation factors set forth in the request for proposals. The award of a contract may be made upon criteria which do not include price. [29 *Del. C.* § 6924(b)(6)]

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE, 29 *Del C.* § 6982(a). After accomplishing the evaluation and conducting discussions and negotiations, the Agency shall select 1 applicant and prepare a public notice within 10 days after awarding the contract stating the firm selected. Agency. This notice will appear in a statewide news publication or by letter to all applicants. If the Agency has elected to select multiple firms, the Agency shall continue the selection process by negotiating with the next firm on the preference list.

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE, 29 *Del C.* § 6982(b). This type of professional service does not require a specific date an award. The Agency shall then interview at least 1 of the qualified firms. The Agency may negotiate with 1 firm without terminating negotiations with another firm and may negotiate with 1 or more firms during the same period. Once the Agency negotiates an agreement, an award can be made.

# **SCPO AWARD ACTIONS**

- Contracts shall be awarded to the bidder(s) whose bid meets the requirements and evaluation criteria set forth in the solicitation. A formal material and non-professional services contract shall be executed with the successful bidder within 20 days after the award of the contract.
- The appropriate letter, including legal forms and any other enclosures are to be mailed to the successful bidder(s):
  - Contract Award Letter
  - Contract Award Letter Multiple Award
  - Contract Award Letter with Bond
- The signed contract and performance bond (if required) must be returned within twenty (20) days of the award letter date.
- A Notice of Award or Contract Award Letter shall be sent to <u>contracting@delaware.gov</u>.
- All of the following are sent the <u>contracting@delaware.gov</u> for award using the following Input Documents:
  - o MY Marketplace Document Submission form
  - o Vendor Information form
  - Award Notice
  - o Pricing Schedule, if separate
- If an unsuccessful bidder should protest or question an award, and after discussing the protest/award with that bidder the matter cannot be resolved, the procedures outlined in Chapter 5 Protests & Appeals, shall be followed.

#### **CONTRACT NON-AWARD LETTER**

Once all contracts have been received and countersigned, Contract Non-Award Letters are prepared and mailed to all unsuccessful vendors, notifying them of the award.

# 2.20 - AWARD NOTICE

The award notice must include all pertinent details relative to utilizing the contract. The award notice shall not be released for distribution until all bonding and signed contract forms have been received and executed.

Upon contract award, the award must be announced on the State's My Marketplace website by sending an Award Notice or copy of the award letter. This must be accompanied by the following documents, as applicable:

- My Marketplace Document Submission form
- Vendor Information form (one for each awarded vendor)
- Award Notice
- Pricing Spreadsheet, if applicable.

An announcement must then be sent through LISTSERV (contract@lists.delaware.gov) to all registered contacts.

A copy of all award notices and addendums must be separately maintained by the SCPO in the paper contract file and in the contracts folder on the electronic shared directory.

The contract file on the electronic shared directory shall include copies of all pertinent electronic communications relevant to the contract.

## CHAPTER 3 – COOPERATIVE PROCUREMENT

## 3.1 – AUTHORITY

29 *Del. C.* § 6933, authorizes GSS to participate in, sponsor, conduct or administer a cooperative purchasing agreement for the procurement of materiel or nonprofessional services with 1 or more public procurement units either within the State or within another state in accordance with an agreement entered into between the participants.

29 *Del. C.* § 6987, authorizes GSS to participate in, sponsor, conduct or administer a cooperative agreement for the procurement of professional services with 1 or more public procurement units either within this State, within another state, or with a consortium of other states in accordance with an agreement entered into between the participants. Such agreement may include material and/or nonprofessional services with professional services. The other provisions of this subchapter shall not apply when an Agency participates in an existing cooperative agreement for the procurement of professional services with a contractor holding a current contract as part of such cooperative agreement.

The Director, Government Support Services and the State Contract Procurement Administrator may choose to participate in any cooperative procurement that meets the requirements of 29 *Del. C.* § 6933 or 29 *Del. C.* § 6987, so that local units of government may have access to a cooperative contract but might restrict or limit the participation of any state Agency.

The Section's Director may delegate the authority to sign a cooperative agreement if it is in the best interest of GSS Contracting.

## 3.2 - BACKGROUND

A purchasing cooperative is a type of arrangement where entities aggregate their demand to obtain lower prices from suppliers. The Cooperative purchasing process offers Delaware agencies, counties, municipalities, school districts, public libraries, and other political subdivisions, the benefits, and costs savings of buying goods and services through contracts administered by other governmental entities, purchasing cooperatives and consortiums.

## 3.3 - PROCESS OVERVIEW

The SCPO reviews the sourcing request and conducts market research to determine that likely providers of goods or services in need are available through an eligible consortium. The SCPO completes the Benchmarking process to determine if the cooperative option makes financial and operational sense to the State. If the cooperative is beneficial, the SCPO should make a recommendation to the Director's Office to utilize an available consortium in lieu of the formal bid process. The Director's Office will make a final determination to use a consortium in lieu of a formal bid.

Separately, an Agency shall also have the ability to submit a Cooperative Request form to GSS Contracting. The Cooperative Request form is available on MyMarketplace.delaware.gov under the Agency resources section. Should an Agency have an interest and ask GSS to join a cooperative, the Agency shall fully complete the Cooperative Request form and provide a benchmark analysis to justify the request. Once

submitted to GSS Contracting, the review may be delegated to a Supervisor or SCPO to review for sufficiency prior to making a recommendation to join or reject the use of the cooperative.

If through this process, the cooperative option is superior to that available on existing contract(s) or through GSA, and the Director's Office approves, then the declaration of an Intent to Participate and subsequent Participating Addendum should be developed.

In the case of a competitive procurement where a vendor has proposed in response to a formal RFP the solution and pricing from an available consortium, the SCPO should conclude the bid tabulation to determine that the consortium offering is the best value. If it is determined to be, a participating addendum shall be executed to formalize the competitive solicitations award.

"INTENT TO PARTICIPATE" means the form executed by the Deputy Director, GSS, which describes the cooperative procurement and signifies the State's willingness to enter into the cooperative procurement.

"PARTICIPATING ADDENDUM" means a bilateral agreement executed by the contractor and a Participating State that clarifies the operation of the price agreement for the State concerned (e.g., ordering procedures specific to that State) and may add other state-specific language or other requirements.

The Participating Addendum (PA) form is to be used and sent to the Deputy Director, GSS to forward to those contractors under the awards with whom we wish to contract. Delaware includes our own additional terms and conditions as an attachment or in the space provided on the form, if it is required. Once fully executed, a copy of the PA is sent to the Lead State contract officer, the Contractor and cooperative's point of contact. The PA form is listed with each cooperative contract. Some of the clauses in "changes" paragraph of the PA may be negotiated by the vendor.

An Award Notice is developed, including any special terms and condition from the Master Price Agreement. The Notice should include all special ordering, shipping, pricing, etc. and posted on My Marketplace as a GSS and cooperative contract.

Other than the process detailed above, the procedures established by GSS Contracting are followed in contract numbering, benchmarking, ERP submission, award notice posting, etc.

## 3.4 – ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT

ECONOMIC IMPACT - A vendor executing a participating addendum for an eligible cooperative award with the State of Delaware shall provide within 90 days of execution and annually as defined by the participating addendum thereafter an economic impact statement which contains at a minimum the following:

- Company Name
- Number of Delaware Locations
- Number of Delaware Employees
- Taxes, Licenses & Fees Paid to Delaware
- Rent Paid within Delaware or Value of Real Property
- Utilities Paid within Delaware
- Major Delaware Investments/Partnerships

• Amount paid to Major partners or suppliers in Delaware

## 3.5 - PARTICIPATING ON ANOTHER STATE'S CONTRACT

Other states may have contracts that would be beneficial to the State of Delaware. A Participating Addendum/Agreement may only be executed if the other state's laws allow. If allowed, the participating addendum must conform to that state's laws with Delaware specific changes included. Contact the other state's procurement official concerning participating.

Alabama	<u>Hawaii</u>	<u>Massachusetts</u>	New Mexico	South Dakota
<u>Alaska</u>	<u>Idaho</u>	Michigan	New York	<u>Tennessee</u>
<u>Arizona</u>	<u>Illinois</u>	Minnesota	North Carolina	<u>Texas</u>
<u>Arkansas</u>	<u>Indiana</u>	Mississippi	North Dakota	<u>Utah</u>
<u>California</u>	<u>lowa</u>	Missouri	<u>Ohio</u>	Vermont
Colorado	Kansas	<u>Montana</u>	<u>Oklahoma</u>	<u>Virginia</u>
Connecticut	Kentucky	<u>Nebraska</u>	Oregon	Washington
<u>District of Columbia</u>	<u>Louisiana</u>	<u>Nevada</u>	<u>Pennsylvania</u>	West Virginia
<u>Florida</u>	<u>Maine</u>	New Hampshire	Rhode Island	Wisconsin
Georgia	Maryland	New Jersey	South Carolina	Wyoming

The table below is a partial list of cooperatives available for benchmarking purposes that may or may not meet the requirements of § 6933 and § 6987. This information is provided for research purposes only. Any procurement through these existing cooperatives requires GSS authorization (Director or Deputy Director).

Cooperative	Link
Association of Educational Purchasing Agencies	https://aepacoop.org/purchasing-categories/
Baltimore Regional Cooperative Purchasing Committee	https://www.baltometro.org/purchasing/about/con tract-awards
Educational & Institutional Cooperative Service, Inc.	www.eandi.org
Houston-Galveston Area Council Cooperative Purchasing Program	http://www.hgacbuy.org/
Minnesota Multistate Contracting Alliance for Pharmacy	http://www.mmd.admin.state.mn.us/mmcap/
NASPO ValuePoint (formerly National Association of State Procurement Officials)	http://naspovaluepoint.org/#/home/contracts
OMNIA Partners	https://www.omniapartners.com/solutions/contrac t-offerings

Cooperative	Link
NPPGov	https://nppgov.com/
Pennsylvania Education Purchasing Program	www.peppm.org
Sourcewell	https://www.sourcewell-mn.gov/
Texas Department of Information Resources	https://dir.texas.gov/
The Interlocal Purchasing System	http://www.tips-usa.com/

## 3.6 – COOPERATIVE USE OF GSS CENTRAL CONTRACT

Publicly competed GSS central contracts awarded in compliance with 29 *Del. C.* Chapter 69, are available for use by other states and/or governmental entities through a participating addendum. Final approval for permitting participation resides with the Director of Government Support Services and in no way places any obligation upon the awarded vendor(s).

Another state/government entity wishing to use a GSS central contract shall make written request to GSS on their formal letterhead referencing the Contract Number, Contract name. The statement below shall be included with their request.

[AGENCY/ENTITY NAME] agrees that it will indemnify and otherwise hold harmless the State of Delaware, its agents and employees from any and all debts, liabilities, demands, suits, actions, causes of actions, obligations, losses, damages, injuries, death, penalties or claims together with all costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees) of whatsoever kind and nature, arising out of the [AGENCY/ENTITY NAME], its agents and employees' performance, work or services in connection with the use of this Contract, the subsequent procurement, including financing of any [PRODUCT/SERVICES REQUIRED] as well as the use of those [PRODUCT/SERVICES REQUIRED] regardless of whether such suits, actions, claims, or liabilities are based upon acts or failures to act attributable, in whole or in part, to the State, its employees or Agents.

The SCPO managing the contract shall review he request and submit for GSS Director approval. Approval if appropriate, shall be granted in writing signed by the GSS Director on GSS letterhead to the requesting entity.

The SCPO managing the contract will ensure the administrative tasks of providing the documents to the requesting entity and recording the event in the Bid Summary Reporting spreadsheet, GSS Authorized Coops tab. Documents will be managed in the appropriate contract file and in the contracting Shared Drive.

# CHAPTER 4 – GENERAL SERVICES ADMINISTRATION (GSA) CONTRACTS

29 *Del. C.* § 6935 permits an Agency to purchase materiel from an existing federal contract vendor approved by the General Services Administration. This statute permits that "The Director [Office of Management and Budget] may enter into negotiations with various manufacturers or distributors and award contracts which will enable agencies and local governments to purchase materiel at prices approved by the General Services Administration of the United States government or its successor". In order to effectively evaluate an Agency request to purchase materiel from a GSA approved manufacturer or distributor, the Director must ensure that all applicable bid laws are followed, and negotiations have occurred.

29 *Del. C.* § 6988 permits an Agency to purchase materiel from an existing federal contract vendor approved by the General Services Administration. This statute permits that "The Director [Office of Management and Budget] may enter into negotiations with various manufacturers or distributors and award contracts which will enable agencies and local governments to purchase professional services at prices approved by the General Services Administration of the United States government or its successor.

The terms and/or a copy of any such contract or portion thereof shall be made available and administered only through GSS Contracting. To facilitate the review of any GSA request, Agencies are required to complete a GSA Request Questionnaire and Approval form (Process Request). Any GSA pricing offer made by a manufacturer or distributor to any purchasing official does not give that Agency the authority to make the purchase without first adhering to the State of Delaware bid laws or to the small purchase procedure. The availability of GSA contract pricing does not preclude the necessity to competitively bid any item unless that item is defined as being sole source procurement.

The GSA Administrator has authorized state, local, territorial, and tribal governments as eligible ordering activities to access all Federal Supply Schedules for the purchase of goods and services when expending Federal grants funds in response to Public Health Emergencies (PHE) declared by the Secretary of Health and Human Services under section 319 of the Public Health Services Act, codified at 42 *U.S.C.* § 247d.

The following language should be included on all task or delivery orders placed by state, local, territorial, and tribal governments purchasing with grant funds in support of Public Health Emergencies (PHE) declared by the Secretary of Health and Human Services under 319 of the Public Health Services Act, 42 *U.S.C.* § 247d:

This order is placed under Federal Supply Schedule number \_\_\_\_\_\_ pursuant to GSA policy that authorizes state, local, territorial, and tribal government entities, as authorized users for purchasing goods and services, when expending Federal grant funds in response to Public Health Emergencies (PHEs) declared by the Secretary of Health and Human Services under section 319 of the Public Health Services Act, codified at 42 *U.S.C.* § 247d.

## CHAPTER 5 – PROTESTS & APPEALS

The processes outlined in this section are for GSS central contracts. Agencies should adopt their own procedures and are encouraged to use the processes below for guidance.

## 5.1 – WRITTEN PROTEST

A vendor may file a written protest challenging a compliance with applicable procurement procedures subject to the vendor's compliance with the following provisions. Any such written protest will be resolved in accordance with the following provisions.

At a minimum, the written protest must include the following:

- The name and address of the protestor
- Appropriate identification of the solicitation (solicitation number)
- Specific objection or challenge with supporting evidence. Note: Prior contractual relationships alone are not a basis for a protest; and the desired remedy

The State, at its discretion, may deem issues not raised in the initial protest as waived with prejudice by the protesting vendor.

## 5.2 – FILING PROTESTS

Vendors filing a protest for GSS central contracts shall reference protest guidance provided in the Procurement Portal, https://mymarketplace.delaware.gov/, Vendor Resources.

A protest is considered to be properly filed when it is in writing, signed by a company officer authorized to sign contracts on behalf of the vendor, and is received by the Director, Government Support Services. The protest may be sent by any of the following means:

MAIL: Director, Government Support Services

Office of Management and Budget

100 Enterprise Place

Suite #4

Dover, DE 19904-8202

FAX: 302-739-3779

EMAIL: contracting@delaware.gov

## 5.3 – VENDOR PROTEST DEADLINES

The vendor must observe the following deadlines when filing a protest. Protests not filed in writing within the time frames identified will not be accepted.

Challenge to Competitive Solicitation Process

• Two (2) business days prior to the closing date and time of the solicitation, as published on bids.delaware.gov

Challenge to an intended or actual contract award

- In the event GSS posts an award, the protest must be filed within ten (10) calendar days of the intent to award a contract.
- In the event GSS does not post an award, the protest must be filed within ten (10) calendar days of the date of the date the notice of award is issued.

NOTE: As a matter of policy, even if a protest has passed the appropriate window for a vendor to protest an award, the Director will at a minimum complete an informal review of the protest and determine the validity of the protest/complaint. Such review practices ensure that standard contracting processes, and individual/team performance, have been fulfilled properly and are in alignment with their intent as were the contracting standards were originally created.

## 5.4 – STAY OF PROCUREMENT DURING PROTEST REVIEW

Protest filed at least two (2) business days prior to the public bid closing or proposal deadline date, no award of a contract shall be made until a final decision has been issued, unless the Director, Government Support Services or his designee makes a written determination, after consulting with the user Agency, that the award of the contract without delay is necessary to protect the interests of the State.

When a protest has been filed in a timely fashion within ten (10) calendar days following the issuance of an Award, the SCPO shall consult with the user Agency to determine if performance of the contract without delay is necessary to protect the interests of the State. If it is determined that it is necessary to proceed with the issuance of the contract and contract performance without delay, the bidder with this contingent contract may proceed with performance and receive payment for work performed in strict accordance with the terms of the contract; however, such bidder shall not be entitled to reimbursement for any capital outlay costs, or other up-front expenditures incurred in performing the contract. The provisions of the paragraph are not applicable to a protest pertaining to events or facts arising during the solicitation process.

## 5.5 - PROTEST RESOLUTION

Below are Government Support Services best practices. Agencies are encouraged to adopt the below policies or develop their own with the below as reference.

The Director of Government Support Services shall review and issue a written decision on the protest as expeditiously as possible after receiving all relevant requested information. Available remedies for sustained protests are as follows:

- If a protest is sustained prior to the closing date and time of the solicitation, available remedies may include, but are not limited to, the following:
  - Modification of the solicitation document, including but not limited to specifications and terms and conditions
  - Extension of the solicitation closing date and time (as appropriate); and
  - Cancellation of the solicitation

- If a protest of the intended/actual contract award is sustained, available remedies may include, but are not limited to, the following
  - o Revision or cancellation of the award
  - o Re-evaluation and re-award or re-solicitation with appropriate changes to the new solicitation

The decisions made the Director of Government Support Services are final and permanent regardless of the protest being accepted or denied. However, the objecting party may appeal the decision by initiating legal proceedings with a Court in Delaware's jurisdiction.

## 5.6 – COSTS

In no event shall a vendor be entitled to recover any costs incurred in connection with the solicitation or protest process, including, but not limited to, the costs of preparing a bid/proposal, the costs of participating in the protest/request for formal review process of any attorneys' fees.

Decisions at each step of the process must be in writing, occur within stipulated time frames and be provided to all interested parties.

## CHAPTER 6 – CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION

## 6.1 - OVERVIEW

Contract administration encompasses the management of all aspects of the vendor and State relationship throughout the entire life cycle of the contract. This life cycle spans from initial scope of services (requirements) development to issuance of the Request for Proposal (RFP) or other solicitation document and through the term of the contract or extension or other modification. The purpose of contract administration is to ensure that the State obtains the required performance from the contractor, on time, at the correct quality level in accordance with the contract requirements and the contractor receives proper compensation and addresses changes in market conditions where pricing or other factors may change. Effective contract administration ensures that both parties fulfill their contact obligations in a timely manner. This includes the responsibilities of the State as outlined in the contract terms and conditions.

Contract administration requires that both parties clearly understand the contract, cooperate, and act in good faith and maintain mutual confidence and respect. The roles and responsibilities in administering each contract should be clearly understood by all parties before performance begins.

The specific nature, extent and effort required to administer the contract depends on the requirements, complexity, value, and importance of the contract. Simple contracts for delivery of off-the-shelf products may require minimal administration. Complex contracts may require full-time monitoring and administration.

Contract administration is a partnership involving the contractor, the SCPO and the ordering Agency.

Areas of specific interest for all awards are including but not limited to:

- Required reports at the required intervals. This includes usage and spend reports, 2nd tier spending reports for Office of Supplier Diversity and reports of completion of identified milestones.
- Corrective Action Requests and complaints regarding non-performance of either party and resulting actions and communications of same, including identification of opportunities to improve contractual language for future solicitations.
- Price and/or Scope change requests of the State and ordering agencies.
- Communications from vendors in the market (even if not awarded) and customers on opportunities to enhance the award at appropriate times.
- Monitoring and taking appropriate action on contract leakage. This is defined as identifying when
  purchases are made off contract to ensure appropriate prices are paid and performance
  expectations are met.
- Depending on the contract value (spend), chairing quarterly or semi-annual business reviews to explore opportunities for efficiencies, avoid potential corrective action situations and address market changes in advance.

When evaluating whether or not to renew an existing contract factors to consider include:

- The performance of the current vendor(s)
- How the existing price structure and/or specifications compare to the current market

- How the existing specifications compare to the State's current needs, and
- Recommendations for improvement that may have been included in the contract file

#### 6.2 – AMENDMENTS TO CONTRACTS

Contract amendments are used to modify an existing contract when it becomes necessary to add, delete, or change a particular item or procedure as long as the scope or original contents of the contract remain the same. Amendments can be used for extensions, change in ownership, change in vendor name, etc.

Once the contract amendment is signed, addended Award Notices are used to communicate the change by posting an addendum to the existing Award Notice and submitting the addendum and MyMarketplace input forms to <a href="mailto:contracting@delaware.gov">contracting@delaware.gov</a> for posting on MyMarketplace.

After the Award Notice is updated to reflect the change, GSS sends a list serve notice to all registered subscribers within the State to notify of the change.

#### 6.3 – FXTENSION OF CONTRACTS

A contract may be extended under the terms and conditions stated in the Special Provisions section of the original contract.

If a contract is to be extended by mutual consent for an optional term, agreement on this optional term must be in writing from both the contractor(s) and the GSS Contracting and must be initiated ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of the current contract. (Renew bonding, if required.)

The following steps are to be followed when processing an existing contract:

- State Contract Procurement Officer (SCPO) monitors his/her milestone chart for scheduling of contract requirements, working on a 10-month out review cycle.
- SCPO should use the Process Checklist (which provides more finite detail on what steps to take)
- SCPO, with concurrence of the user committee, determines whether contract should be renewed
  or re-bid. (If it is determined the contract is to be renewed, contact present vendor, negotiate,
  and request proposal for renewal, get concurrence, compliance, Supervisor and Deputy Director
  approval and then send contract amendment to be signed and returned. This process must be
  initiated ninety (90) days prior to contract expiration.)
- Once contract amendment has been countersigned by Deputy Director, SCPO prepares Award Notice and Pricing Spreadsheet (if applicable) updates to be posted on MyMarketplace, with Supervisor approval. A Contracting LISTSERV communication is sent to notify agencies the extension is complete.

Price Adjustments - If any price adjustments are to be made to the extended contract, the method by which those adjustments are to be determined must be clearly stated in the original contract. In cases where price is increasing, the SCPO should include an analysis of changed market conditions and demonstrate the upward price change is justified by the change in the Adjusted Consumer Price Index for the prior 12-month period.

A 30-day extension option (up to 3 months) may be utilized, with advanced approval of Deputy Director for emergency situations. In these instances, a one-month extension letter is sent directing the vendor

that an extension is being exercised, rather than sending a contract amendment where vendor concurrence is agreed to.

It is a best practice to use each optional extension considered to seek a price/cost reduction as a condition of extending since the cost of doing business with the State should have gone down. The consideration of CPI should not prevent the attempt to negotiate a price reduction on all extensions.

## 6.4 – RE-BID OF CONTRACT

If it is determined to re-bid, SCPO contacts major users (user committee) to set up fact finding meeting, review usage reports (vendor supplied), contractor performance, Corrective Action Request (CAR), and changed market conditions that demonstrate a need to rebid and review/update milestones.

- SCPO completes the ITB/RFP boilerplate and schedules a pre-bid meeting, if necessary
- SCPO sends ITB/RFP draft to Agency or user group for approval
- Agency or user group approves and sends approval back to SCPO
- SCPO submits ITB/RFP to State Contract Supervisor for approval
- SCPO sends ITB/RFP bid information with the Agency Solicitation Request form to contracting@delaware.gov for website posting
- SCPO completes market outreach by utilizing the Outreach Process in Chapter 9 of this manual
- As bids are received, they are manually recorded in the bid log by the Administrative Assistant and/or SCPO showing date and time received
- At bid opening, SCPO reads bidders/offerors name. SCPO completes the Proposals Received List
  and submits to the contracting mailbox for publishing on MyMarketplace. From this point, the
  SCPO has 30 days to award contract if Invitation to Bid (ITB) or 90 days if Request for Proposal
  (RFP)
- SCPO checks validity of bid surety, if applicable, and that all required documents have been received with the bid. SCPO notifies the Director's Office of intention to declare any bidders nonresponsive prior to notifying vendor(s) of this determination
- SCPO checks references, if ITB, or if RFP, SCPO either checks or selects one evaluation committee member to check references
- SCPO scores pricing component for RFP's and sends the remainder of the proposals and
  evaluation criteria that had been established by the solicitation to the user group to
  independently score. The user group should not receive the pricing scores prior to providing their
  independent review and scoring of the remaining criteria. The user group members are to be
  instructed to evaluate proposals individually and not in a group setting

- SCPO tabulates bids or evaluation scoring for RFP's (either manually or using (Excel) computerized spreadsheet)
- For ITB, SCPO reviews bid tab and recommended award with Agency and obtains their concurrence
- For an RFP, user committee selects bidder or bidders most likely to be considered for award. Best and Final Offers can be sought for all proposals and schedule oral presentations if appropriate
- SCPO makes recommendations/award during review with State Contract Supervisor and obtains Deputy Director's approval
- SCPO sends out award letter(s) and two (2) original copies of contract form to successful vendor(s). Sends out "no award" notices to unsuccessful vendors after receipt of executed contract(s) from the intended awarded vendor(s). Return bid surety to unsuccessful vendors, if applicable. At this point, the vendor has 20 days to return executed contract to SCPO and provide any required documentation such as Valid Delaware Business license if required
- When contract forms (performance bond) are returned, check to see if documents are signed correctly, notarized, and performance bond is correct as applicable
- SCPO has contracts signed by the Deputy Director of GSS and witnessed by Supervisor or SCPO.
   Return one signed copy to vendor and retain one signed copy in contract file. Return Bid Surety, if applicable
- SCPO prepares Award Notice and Pricing Spreadsheet (if applicable) to be posted on MyMarketplace, with Supervisor approval
- A Contracting Listserv communication is sent to notify agencies the extension is complete

A <u>flowchart</u> and Process Steps Document of these procedures are maintained by GSS.

## 6.5 - VENDOR PERFORMANCE

When an ordering entity first experiences a relatively minor problem or difficulty with a vendor, the entity will contact the vendor directly and attempt to informally resolve the problem. This includes failure to perform by the date specified and any unacceptable difference(s) between the purchase order and the merchandise received. Ordering entities should stress to vendors that they should expedite correction of the differences because failure to reply may result in an unfavorable rating in the execution of the awarded contract.

It is imperative that all Agency or SCPO communications be documented at the time of communication. This should include listing the issue, contact name, date of contact (re-contact), expected resolution and ultimately, the results expected or agreed to between the parties.

The State has several remedies available to resolve non-performance issues with the contractor. The Agency should refer to the Contract Terms and Conditions to view these remedies. The SCPO may not usually exercise these remedies until/unless the contractor has been provided with an opportunity to cure

the deficiency. When a default occurs, the Agency should first review the contract to confirm that the issue is a part of the contract. If the issue is not covered by the contract, the State cannot expect the contractor to perform outside the contract. If the issue is a part of the contract, the Agency or SCPO must then contact the contractor, discuss the reasons surrounding the default and establish a date when the contractor will resolve the non-performance issue.

If there is a performance deficiency, a Corrective Action Request (CAR) may be used. Complete this form to report concerns with vendors or commodities furnishing as much detail as possible.

In the event that a contractor fails to respond to the complaint or correct a minor deficiency that would not create contract termination or cancellation, the SCPO shall take this factor into consideration in determining the contractor's eligibility for future contracts. The seriousness of the complaint is determined by the State Contract Procurement Administrator and recorded in the contractor's history file.

Each SCPO will administer a vendor performance file for use by all ordering entities as part of their contract administration responsibilities. The Vendor performance file will rely on the ordering entity's participation in gathering information on vendor performance throughout the term of the award.

To facilitate the documentation and completion of any corrective action responsibilities of the Agency, Vendor and GSS have been outlined in Chapter 6.5. This process recognizes that the State Agency also has responsibilities to perform under an award and a CAR may also be initiated by a vendor.

# 6.6 – DISPUTE RESOLUTION / CORRECTIVE ACTION REQUEST

#### AGENCY RESPONSIBILITY

- Contact the vendor (phone, written communication).
- Advise the vendor of the concern and where the contract requires the services/performance in question.
- Find out the problem.
- Provide the vendor an opportunity to correct it.
- Follow up to ensure correction has been made.
- If correction is made, process is complete.
- If correction is not made, elevate to Government Support Services (GSS).
- Provide completed Corrective Action Request to Government Support Services (GSS).

#### **VENDOR RESPONSIBILITY**

- Contact the Agency (phone, written communication).
- Advise the Agency of the concern and where the contract requires the services/performance in question.
- Find out the problem.
- Provide the Agency an opportunity to correct it.
- Follow up to ensure correction has been made.
- If correction is made, process is complete.
- If correction is not made, elevate to Government Support Services (GSS).
- Provide completed Corrective Action Request to Government Support Services (GSS).

#### **GOVERNMENT SUPPORT SERVICES RESPONSIBILITY**

- Evaluate Corrective Action Request.
- If Agency/Vendor request is appropriate and prerequisite steps have been taken, GSS will follow up with vendor/Agency in writing, and place established timeline for Corrective Action Request document in the vendor file.
- Government Support Services will follow-up based on timeline and advise the Agency/Vendor of the result of the Corrective Action.
- If dispute is not resolved, Government Support Services will review contract terms and conditions to determine options available regarding future business with the vendor or changes required by the State to subsequent awards.
- Actions may include but not limited to Notice to Cure, Suspension, or Termination.

# 6.7 – OPPORTUNITY BUYS/ I FOUND IT CHEAPER (IFIC)

The Director for the State of Delaware, Office of Management and Budget, Government Support Services may waive use of a central contract pursuant to 29 *Del. C.* § 6911(e).

A process has been developed to permit any State employee or Vendor to identify a lower price for material and or services for consideration despite the existence of a central contract. See the Opportunity Buy/I Found It Cheaper <u>flowchart</u>.

- Requesting Agency/vendor completes the Opportunity Buy/ I Found It Cheaper Waiver Request form and submits via instructions on the website.
- Contracting office staff receives notification of the IFIC, they log the information from the email into the appropriate spreadsheet found on the Contracting Shared Drive.
  - The email forwarded to State Contract Procurement Officer with a copy to the State Contract Procurement Supervisor.
  - o The email is electronically saved in the appropriate file on the Contracting Shared Drive.
- The SCPO reviews the form for completeness, verifying that comparable commodities, products or services are being analyzed, and the total acquisition costs are being considered.
- If necessary, the SCPO will require the submitter to provide quotes from other contracted vendors for the same products being reviewed.
- The SCPO provides the current contracted vendor(s) the opportunity to match the special offer price.
- If the contracted vendor is willing to match the special offer price, the submitter is directed to
  purchase the requested item from the matching vendor. If the contracted vendor is not willing to
  match the price, the "opportunity buy" request is forwarded to the Director of Government
  Support Services with the recommendation to approve a waiver.
- The Director approves (or denies) the waiver request, which is then returned to the originating Agency.

- A hardcopy of the signed waiver is maintained in a centrally located Contracting Unit file entitled "OPPORTUNITY BUY" REQUESTS.
- The Agency purchaser attaches the waiver with any financial documentation regarding the purchase.

Any Opportunity Buy/I Found it Cheaper submitted by an Agency or Vendor that is not directly related to a necessary and imminent purchase need of the State shall be accepted for market research and informational purposes only. Waivers will not be granted for items that are not currently awaiting a purchase from a State Agency.

Right to Limit I Found It Cheaper Requests Purchase Thresholds

At the discretion of the Director of Government Support Services, all I Found It Cheaper requests that exceed \$25,000.00 in total value may be denied. (The dollar limit is the current threshold that requires a competitive bid to procure Non-Professional goods and services; reference: Small Purchase Thresholds).

The Director shall independently review each request in excess of this amount and make a determination to allow an IFIC waiver process review or to require a new bid prior to completing a purchase.

The opportunity for GSS to consider IFIC requests provides agencies with an outlet to seek savings in the best interest of the State but shall not be used as a method to avoid a competitive bid. Nor shall the IFIC process allow a vendor to attempt to avoid competitively bidding on contract(s), but instead look to sell products to an Agency without fully complying with the intended procurement scope of work and/or bid requirements.

## 6.8 - CANCELLATION OF CONTRACT

If the contractor entering into a contract neglects or refuses to perform or fails to comply with the terms, the GSS Contracting may terminate the contract and proceed to award a new contract or may require the surety on the performance bond to complete the contract in accordance with the terms of the performance bond. [29 *Del. C.* § 6928]

All documentation regarding attempts to cure any concerns or performance deficiencies should be part of the contract file. Termination should be a last resort and only recommended after careful consideration has been given to all available options to complete any existing awards that have been established through the competitive procurement process. A recommendation to proceed with termination must be obtained by the Director's Office prior to initiating the formal action. If approved, the termination recommendation and notice to the vendor should be prepared for the Director's signature after review by the appropriate DAG.

The Division may consider award the contract to the next lowest responsible bidder or re-advertise for new bids. Any emergency situation created by the need to terminate an existing award may trigger an emergency procurement only for the duration to satisfy the immediate period of need while the competitive process is completed for a new award.

## 6.9 – TRANSFER OF OWNERSHIP OF CONTRACTOR OR NAME CHANGE

Throughout the term of the contract, it may be necessary to make changes to the contract when the ownership of the contractor changes or the contractor changes the company name. Should there be a name change or change in ownership, etc., to the present contractor, written notification by the contractor is required. Upon receipt of written notification, signed contracts (2) must be obtained.

Old Contractor. Written notification is required and must include:

- Sold the business and to whom
- Cancellation of contractor
- Effective Date and confirmation new contractor has agreed to take on all contractual obligations.

## New Contractor. The new owner/vendor/contractor must:

- Send written notification
- Signed Assignment of Contract
- New FEIN
- New Surety, if applicable
- New ordering procedure
- Certificate of Insurance
- Business License
- New signed Non-Collusion Statement

## SCPO's procedure

- Determine appropriateness of award/assignment to new vendor (ensure the new contractor is not on the excluded parties list, does not have prior performance concerns that would otherwise prevent award and that all appropriate documentation is provided such as Delaware business license, non-collusion statements, company officers and affirmations, etc.)
- New contracts signed and sealed
- Issue addendums notifying agencies of change, as well as website posting to My Marketplace

## Name change

- Must have written notification from contractor for file.
- Addendum sent to agencies informing of name change as well as, posting an Award Notice Addendum to My Marketplace, using the form.
- Vendor must complete the W-9 process to accept payment as new company.
- Update Business License and Certificate of Insurance

## CHAPTER 7 – LEVELS OF GSS CONTRACTING ASSISTANCE TO AGENCIES

## LEVEL 1 – AGENCY PROCESS HOLDER

#### **GSS RESPONSIBILITY**

- Direct Agency to GSS Website
- Process Guidance
- Forms & Documents
- ITB / RFP Template
- Guidance in Selecting ITB/RFP
- Consult and Respond to Questions
- Delaware Procurement Code Title 29, Chapter 69
- Contracting Process
- Review Agency Documents (if requested)
- Bid Solicitation Package

#### AGENCY RESPONSIBILITY

- Assemble Bid Solicitation Package
  - Specifications
  - Terms and Conditions
- Complete Bid Process
  - Advertise two (2) weeks (consecutive) on mymarketplace.delaware.gov
  - Hold Pre-bid Conference (if applicable)
  - o Hold Bid Opening
  - Award Contract
  - o Execute and Administer throughout the term of contract
  - o Place order with Awarded Vendor

## LEVEL 2 – AGENCY PROCESS HOLDER

## **GSS RESPONSIBILITY**

- Provide Contracting Process Guidance
  - o Reference Delaware Code
  - Website Processes
- Provide a "Draft Package" (Agency requested)
  - o Standard Terms and Conditions
  - o General / Special Provisions
- Ensure Document is Effective
  - Terms and Conditions

## **AGENCY RESPONSIBILITY**

- Supply Specification (if draft requested)
- Supply Mailing List of Vendor
- Maximizes Completion (Agency should have responsibility)
- Viable Vendor Sourcing (Agency should have responsibility)
- Approve "Draft" (if requested)
  - Specifications

- Terms and Conditions
- Complete Bid Process
  - o Advertise two (2) consecutive weeks on mymarketplace.delaware.gov
  - Hold Pre-bid Conference (if applicable)
  - Hold Bid Opening
  - Award Contract
  - o Execute and Administer throughout term of contract
  - o Place order with Awarded Vendor

## LEVEL 3 – GSS PROCESS HOLDER

## **GSS RESPONSIBILITY**

- Provide Draft of Bid Package
  - Specification
  - o Terms and Conditions
  - o General / Special Provisions
- Complete Bid Process
  - o Advertise two (2) consecutive weeks(consecutive) on mymarketplace.delaware.gov
  - Hold Pre-bid Conference (if applicable)
  - o Hold Bid Opening
  - o Obtain Agency Award approval
  - Award Contract
  - o Execute Contract

#### AGENCY RESPONSIBILITY

- Provide GSS
  - Specifications
  - o Timeline
  - Mailing List of Vendors
  - Signature documents from Agency head that cedes Administrative responsibility to Government Support Services.
- Approve
  - Bid Package
  - Contract Award
- Place Order with Vendor
  - Credit Card
  - o Purchase Order

## **LEVEL 3 PARTICIPATION FORM**

Agencies can begin their request for assistance by completing a Request for Help form <a href="https://mymarketplace.delaware.gov/documents/level3.pdf?ver=0602">https://mymarketplace.delaware.gov/documents/level3.pdf?ver=0602</a>.

# **CHAPTER 8 – DEFINITIONS**

TERM	DEFINITION
Agency	Every board, department, bureau, commission, person or group of persons or other authority which directly receives monies under any budget appropriation act or supplemental appropriation act and which was created and now exists or hereafter is created
	a. Execute, supervise, control and/or administer governmental functions under the laws of this State; and/or
	b. To perform such governmental functions under the laws of this State, or to perform such other duties as may be prescribed; and/or
	c. To collect and/or use any taxes, fees, licenses, permits or other receipts for service or otherwise for the performance of any function or related to or supported in whole or in part by the laws of this State; and/or
	d. To administer any laws providing for the collection of taxes, fees, permits, licenses or other forms of receipts from any sources whatsoever for the use of the State or any Agency of the State.
	Includes Delaware Technical and Community College and the Delaware State University but shall not include any local government unit or Agency receiving only grants-in-aid appropriations from the State and no other appropriations, as described herein, the University of Delaware, volunteer ambulance/rescue companies, volunteer fire departments and the Delaware Transit Corporation. Nothing in this subsection shall be deemed to exempt any entity that is otherwise required to comply with § 6960
Agency Head	The top official in an Agency whether elected, appointed or otherwise. The Agency head may delegate duties under this chapter to a designee within the Agency
Agency Official	Any employee, consultant, person in the category of other personal service or any other person receiving compensation from the State, its agencies, municipalities, political subdivisions or school boards
Compensation	The total amount paid by an Agency for professional services, including reimbursed expenses, unless otherwise stated in the contract
Contractor	Any person, partnership, firm, corporation, nonprofit Agency or other business association who has a contract with an Agency.

TERM	DEFINITION
Covered Agency	Any Agency except school districts, Delaware Technical & Community College, the Delaware State University and the Legislative Branch of State government.
Director	The Director of the Office of Management and Budget, except as provided by § 6960 of this title, in which case it shall mean the Secretary of the Department of Labor.
Electronic Bid	The bidder, in response to an advertised invitation to bid, submits all documentation, except for information and documents specified in the invitation to bid, only through an electronic process to an identified secure electronic mail account that will not be opened by the Office until the close of the bidding period. In this process, no hard copy documentation shall be submitted to the Office prior to the award of the contract.
Electronic Submission	The vendor, in response to an advertised request for proposal, submits all documentation, except for information and documents specified in the request for proposal, only through an electronic process to an identified secure electronic mail account that will not be opened by the Office until the close of the request for proposal submittal period. In this process, no hard copy, except for information and documents specified in the request for proposal, shall be submitted to the Office prior to the award of the contract.
Firm	A person, organization, partnership, limited partnership, corporation, association, nonprofit Agency or other business association.
Internet	The international computer network of both federal and nonfederal interoperable packet switched data networks, including the graphical subnetwork called the World Wide Web.
Labor Supply Ratio	The number of skilled crafts persons per unskilled workers employed on a public works project. Any person who has completed a federal apprenticeship program, an apprenticeship program approved by the Delaware Department of Labor pursuant to Chapter 2 of Title 19 or has otherwise documented 8 years of experience in a particular craft, shall be deemed a skilled crafts person for the purposes of this definition.
Lifecycle Costing Analysis	The contracting Agency's evaluation of costs associated with the cost of acquisition, the cost of energy consumption required for operation, the cost of maintenance and the cost of consumables that affect the State's overall cost of ownership of equipment or public works projects. Such evaluation is used by the contracting Agency or project

TERM	DEFINITION
	architect or project engineer for the development of contract specifications.
LISTSERV	An electronic mailing list of contact information of the person(s) responsible for procuring goods and services for their Agency. Included in the list are contacts for Municipalities, Fire Companies, School Districts, and State Agencies; Procurement Unit Contacts.
Local Government Unit	Any municipality incorporated in this State under the authority of the General Assembly and any of the 3 counties.
Materiel	Materials, equipment, tools, supplies, or any other personal property, but does not include real property or electric, gas, water, telephone or similar utilities.
NAICS	The North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) is the standard used by Federal statistical agencies in classifying business establishments for the purpose of collecting, analyzing, and publishing statistical data related to the U.S. business economy.
NIGP	The National Institute of Government Purchasing established commodity codes in 1999 to bring purchasing procedures into greater conformity with national standards
On-line Bidding Method	A procurement process in which the Office receive vendors' bids for goods and nonprofessional services electronically over the Internet as either a substitute for a hard copy bid submission or in a real-time, competitive bidding event.
P-Card	State of Delaware Procurement Card (Credit Card)
Professional Services	Services which generally require specialized education, training or knowledge and involve intellectual skills. Examples of professional services include, but are not limited to, engineering, environmental engineering, environmental monitoring, land surveying, landscape architecture, geology, architectural, archaeologists, architectural historians, historians, educational consultants, management, medical, teaching, planning, computer information management, financial, accounting, auditing, construction management and arbitration services. Professional services subject to the provisions of § 2507 of this title or which require compliance with Delaware Supreme Court Rule 52 or a substantially similar rule of another state shall not be included in this definition and shall not be subject to this chapter

TERM	DEFINITION
Public Building	Any edifice or building which is or is to be constructed, reconstructed, altered or repaired pursuant to a public works contract. It does not mean the act or process itself of constructing, reconstructing, altering or repairing.
Public Funds	Funds of the State, of any Agency within the State, of any public school district, of or from the United States government or of or from any department or representative body thereof.
Public Works Contract	Construction, reconstruction, demolition, alteration and repair work and maintenance work paid for, in whole or in part, with public funds.
Reverse Auctioning	An on-line procurement method wherein bidders bid on specified goods and non-professional services through real-time electronic competitive bidding, with the award being made to the lowest responsive and responsible bidder. During the bidding process, bidders' prices are public and are revealed electronically, and bidders shall have the opportunity to modify their bid prices for the duration of the time period established for the auction.
SCPO	State Contract Procurement Officer
Section	Section of Government Support Services in the Office of Management and Budget
Third Tier Contractor	A firm that has contracted with a subcontractor to provide services and/or materiel in connection with a public works contract.
UNSPSC	The United Nations Standard Products and Services Code provides an open, global multi-sector standard for efficient, accurate classification of products and services.
User Group	2 or more Agency or non-Agency representatives, one of whom shall be an Agency representative who provides technical advice to the Government Support Services concerning the requirements of certain materiel and nonprofessional services contracts. Non-Agency representatives shall be limited to expected users of the materiel and/or services being procured and/or persons having technical expertise deemed necessary by the Agency. In no event shall non-Agency representatives be affiliated with a vendor or prospective vendor of the contract.
Volunteer Ambulance/Rescue Companies	A volunteer ambulance or rescue company certified as such by the State Fire Prevention Commission.

TERM	DEFINITION
Volunteer Fire Department	A volunteer fire department recognized as such by the State Fire Prevention Commission.
Z Score	A calculation used to assess a bidder's fiscal health. The calculation is based on the following weighted ratios: return on total assets, sales to total assets, equity to debt, working capital to total assets, and retained earnings to total assets.

# CHAPTER 9 – POLICIES, PROCEDURES AND MEMOS

## 9.1 – BEST AND FINAL OFFER POLICY

Best and Final Offers are applicable only to material and nonprofessional services procurements. Best and Final Offers must be made to all responsive and responsible vendors responding to the RFP. It shall be the policy of Government Support Services Contracting that the Contracting Supervisor will verify, by initialing the Bid Tabulation, that the Best and Final Offer matches the information as presented and that no changes or alterations to the original RFP Specification(s) occurred as a result of the acceptance of the Best and Final Offer.

## 9.2 - BID CANCELLATION

All bid cancellations shall be thoroughly vetted prior to any actions being taken, which may include any and/or all of the following steps:

- Review all received proposals for responsiveness, including
  - o Completeness of Vendor Response Provided
  - Pricing
  - Vendor Exceptions to Scope of Work or stated contractual terms
- Contracting Section to Consider if Adequate Competition was present
- Legal Review of Vendor Response/Exceptions

Prior to making any bid cancellation decision, GSS Contracting consider all factors and provide a recommendation prior to engaging the contract sponsor and/or user group. Such cancellation recommendations shall include a complete list of identified deficiencies and/or risk with continuing the process and may include legal opinion if appropriate.

The GSS Contracting representative will seek consensus from the contract sponsor(s) and request their assent that the bid be cancelled but will allow the sponsor and/or user group to ask questions, seek alternative(s), and/or disagree with the planned path forward. It is important for GSS Contracting to document and let the identified user group know that advancing toward a contract award is contradicted by Code, legal review or precedence, as appropriate. (As necessary, a meeting can be established to discuss the path forward to meet the best interests of the State.)

If a determination to cancel an active bid is suggested, and the user group agrees, a brief synopsis shall be provided to the Deputy Director, Government Support Services for their approval or denial. Such documentation shall be maintained in the contract file, in physical or electronic copy for future reference.

NO BIDS SHALL BE CANCELLED PRIOR TO USER GROUP/AGENCY SPONSER ENGAGEMENT, AND GSS DEPUTY DIRECTOR APPROVAL.

## 9.3 – NON-AWARD REASONS

Cancellation of ITB Prior to bid opening:

Under 29 Del. C.§ 6923(m) (1), this solicitation is cancelled in the best interest of the State.

After bid opening:

Under 29 Del. C.§ 6923(I), this solicitation is cancelled due to the lack of adequate responses.

#### **Procurement Cancelled:**

29 Del. C.§ 6923(I), the proposed procurement is cancelled.

#### Cancellation of RFP:

29 Del. C.§ 6924(k), this RFP is hereby cancelled in the best interest of the State.

## Cancellation of Public Works solicitation:

29 Del. C.§ 6962(d) (13) (f), this solicitation is cancelled in the best interest of the State.

## Cancellation of Professional Services solicitation:

29 *Del. C.*§ 6982(a)(3) or §6982(b)(3), this solicitation is cancelled due to termination of negotiations with listed qualified firms.

## Request for Information (RFI):

This announcement was for information only.

## Request for Qualifications (RFQ):

This Request for Qualifications was to identify qualified firms and will not result in a contract award.

## Cooperative Solicitation Announcements:

This solicitation was advertised to provide local vendors with national contracting opportunities. The State of Delaware reserves the right to participate, if in the best interests of the State.

## 9.4 - CONTRACT TRANSFER CHECKLIST POLICY

It is the policy of Government Support Services/Contracting that the State Contract Procurement Officer and Supervisor will utilize the Contract Transfer Checklist when transferring Contracting file from one SCPO and Supervisor to another.

#### 9.5 – DEBARMENT

Other than with Public Works contracts, there are no provisions in Delaware code authorizing formal debarment of a vendor. Consideration must be given and evaluated to past performance.

Actions to be taken against a vendor for nonperformance on a central contract shall require the Director of GSS' approval. Required for the Director's review will be all documentation including Agency attempts to resolve the issues and the Corrective Action Request (CAR).

While not a formal requirement of Delaware code for nonpublic works procurements to check for vendor debarment in other states and through the federal government, it shall be the policy of GSS that all vendors considered for award shall be checked using the same procedures outlined for public works. Should a vendor be identified as debarred it shall be brought to the Director for a responsibility determination of the vendor.

If during the current term of an existing central contract, another jurisdiction debars a vendor, it shall be brought to the Director for a determination of the impact to the current GSS central contract.

With Public Works contracts, any contractor who fails to perform a public works contract or complete a public works project within the time schedule established by the Agency in the invitation to bid may be subject to suspension or debarment for 1 or more of the following reasons:

- Failure to supply the adequate labor supply ratio for the project
- Inadequate financial resources; or
- Poor performance on the project
- Failure to provide required craft training under paragraph (d)(13)i

## 29 Del. C. § 6962(d)(14).

Upon such failure for any of the above stated reasons, the Agency that contracted for the public works project may petition the Director of the Office of Management and Budget for suspension or debarment of the contractor. The Agency shall send a copy of the petition to the contractor within 3 working days of filing with the Director. If the Director concludes that the petition has merit, the Director shall schedule and hold a hearing to determine whether to suspend the contractor, debar the contractor or deny the petition. The Agency shall have the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence that the contractor failed to perform or complete the public works project within the time schedule established by the Agency and failed to do so for 1 or more of the following reasons:

- Failure to supply the adequate labor supply ratio for the project
- Inadequate financial resources
- Poor performance on the project; or
- Failure to provide required craft training under paragraph (d)(13)i

Upon a finding in favor of the Agency, the Director may suspend a contractor from bidding on any project funded, in whole or in part, with public funds for up to 1 year for a first offense, up to 3 years for a second offense and permanently debar the contractor for a third offense. The Director shall issue a written decision and shall send a copy to the contractor and the Agency. Such decision may be appealed to the Superior Court within 30 days for a review on the record.

To search for exclusions, use the System for Award Management (SAM) following the steps listed to see if an entity is subject to any active exclusions (e.g., suspensions, debarments) imposed by a federal Agency:

- Go to https://sam.gov/SAM/
- On the Home Page click the Search Records icon, type the Entity's name, DUNS number, or CAGE
  code in the search bar and click on the Search icon. (IMPORTANT NOTE: Individuals are not
  assigned DUNS numbers. If you are checking for an exclusion for an individual, search by typing in
  the name.)
- If no exclusion record is found for the entity, the entity does not have an active exclusion submitted in SAM by a federal Agency.
- If an exclusion record is found, it will display in a box marked "Exclusion" in purple; check the status in the top-right corner of the box. If the status indicates "Active", there is an active exclusion for that entity.
- Below the search results, options to export results or save as a PDF are available for recordkeeping.

**NOTE:** Vendors with an active debarment may be denied prequalification for large public works, and thereby affecting the ability to be awarded. Agencies should refer to 29 *Del. C.*§ 6962 Large public works contract procedures, and/or contact the Division of Facilities Management for guidance related to the debarment policies.

Otherwise, the identification of a debarment record may not immediately disqualify a vendor from consideration for an award bid through other non-public works sections of the procurement code. Should a debarment record be identified, the SCPO shall notify their supervisor and bring the matter to the attention of the GSS Director for a final determination about the vendor's ability to continue to be considered for an award.

## 9.6 – DISPUTE RESOLUTION POLICY

The following language is included in all formal bid solicitation templates regarding dispute resolution available upon award under the terms of a contract.

At the option of the parties, they shall attempt in good faith to resolve any dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement promptly by negotiation between executives who have authority to settle the controversy and who are at a higher level of management than the persons with direct responsibility for administration of this Agreement. All offers, promises, conduct and statements, whether oral or written, made in the course of the negotiation by any of the parties, their agents, employees, experts and attorneys are confidential, privileged and inadmissible for any purpose, including impeachment, in arbitration or other proceeding involving the parties, provided evidence that is otherwise admissible or discoverable shall not be rendered inadmissible.

If the matter is not resolved by negotiation, as outlined above, or, alternatively, the parties to the Agreement can elects to proceed directly to mediation, then the matter will proceed to mediation as set forth below. Any disputes, claims or controversies arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be submitted to mediation by a mediator selected by the parties. If the matter is not resolved through mediation, it may be submitted for arbitration or litigation. The Agency reserves the right to proceed directly to arbitration or litigation without negotiation or mediation. Any such proceedings held pursuant to this provision shall be governed by Delaware law and jurisdiction and venue shall be in the State of Delaware. Each party shall bear its own costs of mediation, arbitration, or litigation, including attorneys' fees.

# 9.7 - DRUG TESTING FOR LARGE PUBLIC WORKS POLICY

Pursuant to 29 *Del. C.*§ 6908(a)(6), effective as of January 1, 2016, OMB has established regulations that require Contractors and Subcontractors to implement a program of mandatory drug testing for Employees who work on Large Public Works Contracts funded all or in part with public funds. The regulations establish the mechanism, standards and requirements of a Mandatory Drug Testing Program that will be incorporated by reference into all Large Public Works Contracts awarded pursuant to 29 *Del. C.*§ 6962.

#### 9.8 - CRAFT TRAINING

Craft training must be provided by a contractor and/or subcontractor for each craft on a project for which there are Delaware Department of Labor approved and registered training programs. A list of crafts for which there are approved and registered training programs is maintained by the Delaware Department of Labor and can be found at <a href="https://labor.delaware.gov/divisions/employment-training/apprenticeship-and-training/apprenticeship-benefits/">https://labor.delaware.gov/divisions/employment-training/apprenticeship-benefits/</a>

In accordance with Title 29, Chapter 69, Section 6962(d)(13)(i) of the Delaware Code, contractors and subcontractors must provide craft training for journeyman and apprentice levels if <u>all</u> of the following apply:

- A project meets the prevailing wage requirement under Title 29, Chapter 69, Section 6960 of the Delaware Code
- The contractor employs 10 or more total employees
- The project is not a federal highway project

## 9.9 - ELECTRONIC SIGNATURES

The U.S. Code defines an electronic signature for the purpose of US law as "an electronic sound, symbol, or process, attached to or logically associated with a contract or other record and executed or adopted by a person with the intent to sign the record.

The Uniform Electronic Transactions Act ("UETA") was released by the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws (NCCUSL) in 1999 and established the definition of what qualifies as an electronic signature. 47 States, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, and the U.S. Virgin Islands have adopted it. Only New York, Washington State, and Illinois have not enacted UETA, but each of those states has adopted its own electronic signatures statute.

6 *Del. C.* Chapter 12A. Uniform Electronic Transaction Act allows for the use of electronic signatures in contracting. Please refer specifically to § 12A-107, § 12A-108, and § 12A-111 It does not require the use of electronic signatures.

It shall be the policy of Government Support Services to use electronic signatures to the maximum extent possible, except where prohibited by 6 *Del. C.* Chapter 12A.

## 9.10 – ELECTRONIC STORAGE OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

It shall be the policy of GSS Contracting that an electronic copy of all vendors' bid/proposals and associated bid/procurement document are to be saved on the Contracting Share Drive in the appropriate folder.

## 9.11 - BENCHMARKING

It will be the policy of GSS Contracting, that prior to presenting a contract for the advertising/posting process, the Contract Officer will conduct market research. This research will be formalized by completing

the Benchmarking spreadsheet which includes, but is not limited to, a review of the GSA and NASPO ValuePoint websites for price comparisons. The websites are listed below.

GSA: www.gsaadvantage.gov

NASPO ValuePoint: www.naspovaluepoint.org

Further, the Contract Officer shall retrieve the IBIS World report, if available, for the good, commodity and/or service to review pricing and market factors that may affect any bid or extension decision.

## 9.12 - THIRTY (30) DAY EXTENSIONS

No thirty (30) day contract extensions will be utilized without prior approval of the Director or Deputy Director of Government Support Services.

## 9.13 - VENDOR OUTREACH PROCEDURES

Outreach is intended to provide proposal response opportunities to potentially interested vendors. Vendors are identified by using methods not limited to Supplier Diversity registrations, GSA identified vendors, Small Business registered vendors, vendors on existing contracts, vendors on prior contracts, and other methods as applicable. The SCPO reaches out to potential vendors via e-mail to notify of solicitation opportunities.

SCPO reports (after award) outreach efforts by updating the Bid Summary Excel Spreadsheet.

Delegated contract officers will provide the summary information to the appropriate State Contract Supervisor.

- Contract number and name
- Number of potential vendors emailed through each Category Type
- Delaware companies
- Small Businesses
- Minority companies
- Woman owned companies
- Veteran owned companies

An email can be sent to each of the listed vendors, announcing the solicitation and recommending that they subscribe to our subscription service.

The State of Delaware has a free Vendor Subscription service to notify interested parties of solicitations in specific areas of interest as you determine when registering. You may select as many areas of interest as you like. Please take a moment to register at bids.delaware.gov. Registration will enable you to receive an email notification when a solicitation is posted that matches the areas of interest you identified.

DO NOT recommend a UNSPSC code to any company that inquires. This choice is theirs.

## 9.14 - VENDOR REGISTRATION

The State of Delaware launched a free Vendor Subscription service August 1, 2009 to advise vendors of solicitations in specific areas of interest as defined by the vendor. Once registered, any area of business that the vendor wishes to receive notification on will be automatically provided by an email notification. Vendors may subscribe at https://mmp.delaware.gov/Bids/.

## 9.15 - VENDOR SPEND USAGE REPORT POLICY

It is the practice of GSS Contracting Management that vendors submit their usage reports, monthly unless otherwise specified in the contract, to <a href="mailto:vendorusage@delaware.gov">vendorusage@delaware.gov</a> by the 15th of each month. While not mandatory for Agency contracts, the practice is highly encouraged for effective contract management, business intelligence, and transparency. For GSS central contracts, Vendors are required to use the template provided and must submit each month, including those with no spend to report.

SCPOs shall be responsible for:

- following up with vendors who have reports with errors
- collecting reports that have not been submitted; and
- forwarding any corrected and missing reports, sent to the SCPO only, to the VendorUsage mailbox

SCPOs may coordinate with MMPAs to avoid duplicate efforts in the collection and correction of monthly usage reports.

## 9.16 - W-9 FORM POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

It is the practice of Government Support Services to require vendors to comply with the policy direction of the Division of Accounting regarding the submission of W-9 Forms for all vendors on state contracts.

Vendors must register or manage their information through the eSupplier Portal. Detailed instructions for submitting new registrations, obtaining user IDs and passwords, and submitting change requests are located on the FAQs/Contact Us page of the eSupplier Portal.

## 9.17 - MY MARKETPLACE VENDOR DIVERSITY REPORTING

The State of Delaware is committed to supporting its diverse business community by identifying and recording the diverse vendors that have responded to formal bid opportunities and/or have been awarded contracts. The collection and analysis of vendor participation provides transparency in the state's formal bid solicitation process and may provide additional business partnership opportunities within the vendor community.

Vendors have an opportunity to report their business' diversity classification(s) within their bid responses to formal procurements. This is accomplished by identifying a diversity status on the bid solicitation's Non-Collusion statement, as on the form section shown below, which is intended to be notarized prior to bid submission. NOTE: A Vendor's self-identification of diversity status on the Non-Collusion does not certify or guarantee the legitimacy of the diversity claim, but instead only identifies the Vendor's assertion that the business believes itself to be diverse. This diversity claim may or may not be substantiated by outside entity certification policies and/or practices.

For purposes of the central Contracting section's internal reporting and My Marketplace (MMP) transparency, if a Vendor self-identifies itself as a diverse business classification(s) on the Non-Collusion statement, the Contract Officer will record a business' diversity status as diverse. The result will require a recording of "Y" in the M/WBE and/or Vets/SDV columns on My Marketplace and the tracking of the business' claimed diversity on all internal reports.

## 9.18 - HEALTHY VENDING/FOOD SERVICE

The Department of Human Resources instituted a Workplace Wellness Policy in June 2022 based on Governor Carney's <u>Action Plan for Delaware</u>. The policy provides guidance on the foundation and infrastructure for Executive Branch agencies to establish and maintain workplace wellness initiatives. Workplace wellness initiatives focus on promoting a healthy lifestyle — including exercise, healthy eating, tobacco cessation, and preventive care — as well as supporting employees' social and emotional wellness — including stress management and mental health. Agencies are permitted and encouraged to develop wellness initiatives that are based on the needs, wants, health status, and risks of their specific employee population. The procedures section details a model approach based on best practices that agencies may adopt for their own workplace wellness initiatives. Agencies have the flexibility to adopt all or some of the practices, based on their agencies and employees' unique needs and preferences. Language from the policy is recommended as applicable:

Improving Access to Healthier Food Options in the Workplace:

Vending and Food Service – State entities are encouraged to make available healthy snacks/foods at catered events, in cafeterias, and in snack bars. Clear identification of healthy snacks is strongly encouraged. It is recommended that vending machines in State buildings with food products offer healthy options that comprise at least 40% of all options offered. Procurement with external vendors for catered events may specify healthy options to be included for prepared foods and drinks.